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COMBATING FRAUDS AGAINST THE ELDERLY 

TUESDAY, MARCH 1, 1983 

U.S. SENATE, 
SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON AGING, 

Washington, D.C. 
The committee met pursuant to notice, at 9:07 a.m., in room 538, 

Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. John Heinz, chairman, pre
sidi'1g. 

Present: Senators Heinz, Cohen, Melcher, and Pryor. 
Also present: John C. Rother, staff director and chief counsel; 

Bill Halamandaris, director of oversight; David Holton, chief inves
tigator; Kate Clarke, communications director; Robin L. Kropf, 
chief clerk; Linda Goldman, staff assistant; and Eugene Cummings, 
printing assistant. 

OPENING STATEMENT BY SENATOR JOHN HEINZ, CHAIRMAN 

Chairman HEINZ. Ladies and gentlemen, we are having a little 
trouble with our sound system, but in the interest of time, I think 
we will proceed anyway. 

In 1981, the Senate Committee on Aging held a field hearing in 
my home State of Pennsylvania to review the local impact of con
sumer frauds on the elderly. The hearing revealed that such frauds 
were indeed a significant problem with potentially enormous impli
cations for the elderly. 

In order to determine the, dimensions of this problem, the com
mittee recently conducted a national survey of responsible State 
and local officials. Over 1,300 questionnaires were mailed to police 
chiefs, district attorneys, and consumer protection offices. The pur
pose of the questionnaire was to assess the nature and frequency of 
consumer and economic frauds, the impact of these frauds on the 
elderly, and the resources available to combat these abuses. 

The committee report that I am releasing today-and I think 
copies of it are available to all interested people-details those 
findings, and in summary, concludes with the following five points. 

First, consumer frauds are widespread and pervasive. They touch 
every aspect of the older consumer's life from health care to hous
ing. 

Second, consumer and economic frauds are increasing. Respond
ents report an increase of about 12 percent a year. 

Third, the elderly are considered the prime target for these 
abuses. Over 77 percent of those responding indicated that the el
derly are more often the targets of fraud than the younger popula
tion. 

(1) 
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Fourth, those who perpetrate these crimes are well organized, so
phisticated, and effective. Some respondents reported "schools for 
scoundrels" organized by con artists to tutor other cons in the fine 
art of making a "sting." Police reported it was not uncommon for 
cons to exchange "hit lists"-the names of those they had success
fully defrauded-upon leaving one location for another. 

Fifth, despite the increase in the level of fraud, resources availa
ble to combat this problem are diminishing. Federal programs 
funded by LEAA have been eliminated. Other Federal funds ear
marked for consumer service have been lost in block grants. 
Thirty-five percent of State consumer offices reported reductions in 
funds. Forty-seven percent indicated that they had been level 
funded. 

We also found in this survey that there are 10 frauds that one 
would rate as most harmful to the elderly. They are: Quackery and 
medical-related frauds, such as phony arthritis or cancer cures; 
home repair and improvement cons; bunco schemes, such as the 
"pigeon drop" and the "bank examiner"; insurance frauds; social 
cons which feed on a victim's compassion and loneliness, such as 
phony charity promotions; housing, land sa18 and rental frauds; 
business and investment schemes, such as work at home programs; 
nursing home frauds; automobile purchase and repair schemes; and 
deceptive funeral sales practices. 

While a precise measurement of the damage done by these de
ceits is incalculable, it is clear that millions of people are defraud
ed of billions of dollars each year. The Arthritis Foundation esti
mates $1 billion is lost annually to phony arthritis cures alone. 
Over $5 billion is said to be lost to business and investment frauds, 
while a single land fraud may exceed $1 million. 

Witnesses today will speak to these problems and present solu
tions. We will hear how the elderly are defrauded, and see the 
impact of these abuses on one of its victims. We will hear from rep
resentatives of State, local, and Federal agencies charged with pre
venting and controlling these abuses. 

The con men who steal from the elderly take more than money. 
Their theft also involves dignity, security, and peace of mind. The 
English language is not adequate to characterize their conduct, but 
our laws should be adequate to stop them. To that end, I look for
ward to today's testimony. 

Senator John Glenn, the ranking minority member of this com
mittee, and Senator Larry Pressler cannot be with us today be
cause of prior commitments. They have, however, submitted state
ments for the record, and without objection they will be inserted at 
this point. 

[The statements of Senators Glenn and Pressler follow:] 

STATEMENT OF SENATOR JOHN GLENN 

Mr. Chairman, I am pleased that the Senate Special Committee on Aging is con
ducting this hearing to examine consumer fraud schemes and the harsh impact 
these crimes have on elderly citizens. Consumer fraud practices are a major part of 
the rampant, growing crime problem in America. 

In 1981, the Aging Committee examined the national crime epidemic as it affects 
senior citizens in a hearing entitled "Older Americans: Fighting the Fear of Crime." 
We found that many elderly persons have become prisoners in their own homes due 
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to their fear of crime. A recent Department of Justice study revealed that three out 
of four elderly persons deliberately limit their activities because of a fear of crime. 

However, as today's hearing will demonstrate, elderly persons are far from secure 
in their own homes, no matter how many dead-bolts and "burglar-bars" they have 
installed on their doors and windows. Even the most expensive electronic home se
curity system will not protect an elderly person against phony insurance salesmen, 
home repair con artists, or bogus medical "cures" that arrive in the mailbox. 

Swindlers see the elderly as easy marks for several reasons. Many older people 
live on social security and pensions that are supplemented by savings. They may be 
looking for ways to increase their incomes through investments and work-at-home 
opportunities. Many of these business ventures are sound and legitimate, but some 
are ideal settings for fr~ud. Many elderly persons worry about inflation and energy 
costs. Con artists recognize this concern and take advantage of the elderly through 
phony e!l'~rgy conservation and home insulation gimmicks. And criminals prey on 
the senior citizen's most prominent fear-the fear of medical catastrophe. Poor 
"medigap" and cancer insurance policies, unnecessary and expensive hearing aids, 
and worthless arthritis "cures" represent just a few of the medical frauds perpetrat
ed against senior citizens. 

Before we attempt to combat consumer frauds against the elderly, we must identi
fy the size and scope of the problem. The Cmnmittee on Aging has conducted a na
tional survey of State and local officials to determine the frequency of consumer 
frauds against the elderly, to define the impact of frauds on the lives of the elderly, 
and to identify resources and strategies being employed to guard against these 
crimes. Respondents to the committee's survey included officials of State consumer 
affairs offices, chiefs of police in large and small cities, district attorneys, and State 
attorneys general. The results of the survey indicate that consumer frauds are 
indeed a major problem for elderly citizens. The elderly are targeted as easy marks 
by con artists. Over 77 percent of the officials surveyed indicated that the elderly 
are more frequently defrauded than the younger popUlation. When victimized, the 
elderly suffer disproportionate losses and are slower to recover-in financial, physi
cal, and mental terms. 

The committee survey revealed the following 10 most harmful frauds against the 
elderly: 

(1) Quackery and medical-related frauds. 
(2) Home repair and improvement frauds. 
(3) Bunco schemes. 
(4) Insurance frauds. 
(5) Social frauds. 
(6) Housing and land frauds. 
(7) Business opportunity and investment frauds. 
(8) Nursing home frauds. 
(9) Automobile frauds; and 
(10) Funeral frauds. 
What can we do to stem this wave of consumer frauds against our elderly citi

zens? An effective response must unite Federal, State, and local government offi
cials, citizen groups and neighborhood associations, business leaders, and individual 
senior citizens in a cooperative effort. We need to enact and strongly enforce tough 
crime-fighting and consumer protection laws. 

I have cosponsored S. 450, the "Mail Order Consumer Protection Amendments of 
1983." This bill will increase the investigatory and enforcement powers of the Postal 
Inspection Service to more effectively combat consumer fraud through the mails. 
The bill will help the Postal Service to more effectively enforce the existing laws 
against false advertising. Also, every State has some form of consumer protection 
statute. Other State laws specifically protect consumers in the areas of home repair 
services, home solicitation, and insurance sales. 

The most important way elderly persons can protect themselves against these 
frauds is through consumer education and by following a few commonsense precau
tions. Older consumers must be aware of get-rich-quick opportunities, traveling 
salespersons, and telephone solicitations. Senior consumers should shop around to 
check prices and performance before purchasing products and services. They should 
check with officials before entering into any major transactions, and they should 
clearly understand any written contract before signing it. Most importantly, seniors 
should report any suspicious offers to their local law enforcement agency immedi
ately. 

As .the ranking minority member of the Senate Special Committee on Aging, I am 
pleased to join with other committee members in releasinp a report entitled "Con
sumer Frauds and Elderly Persons: A Growing Problem.' This information paper 
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explains the results of the committee survey, gives tips on how to combat frauds 
against the elderly, and includes a consumer directory of Federal, State, and local 
sources of help. 

STATEMENT OF SENATOR LARRY PRESSLER 

Mr. Chairman, I would like to thank you for organizing this hearing on this Nery 
important subject. Of all the investigative work done by this committee, the work 
done on elderly consumer fraud is among the most important. 

Previous investigative hearings have focused on fraud in Government programs, 
such as medicare. I believe it is important for us to look into problems such as this. 
The nature of consumer fraud as an act that exploits people on a very personal 
level, however, makes this an extremely distressing problem. 

The majority of the residents of my home State of South Dakota live in rural or 
small-town settings, and as a result many of them conduct a great deal of business 
through the mail. For this reason, they are highly susceptible to mail fraud, and I 
have a special interest in this particular subject. 

It seems that the list of the different types of fraud that are common is almost 
endless. The more information we can collect and disseminate on this subject, the 
better prepared our people will be to avoid being victimized by perpetrators of fraud 
schemes. I think this is an extremely worthwhile use of our time and energy, and I 
look forward to the testimony of our witnesses this morning. 

. Chairman HEINZ. It is my understanding that our panel consist
Ing of the five members of the Federal Trade Commission is indeed 
present. 

Chairman Miller and the others, would you come forward? 
As the members of the Federal Trade Commission take their 

seats, let !lle observe that,. as I. indicated in my opening comment, 
the commIttee survey haf-lidentIfied 10 frauds which have the most 
h~rmful impact on the elderly. Many of those frauds involve indus
tries and market practices within the jurisdiction of the Federal 
Trade Commission. We are very grateful to have the Commission 
here with us this morning. We are delighted to have Chairman 
Miller, and also his four other colleagues-Commissioners Bailey 
Clanton, Douglas, and Pertschuk. ' 

We are first going to hear from Chairman Miller, who will 
present an overview of the Commission's 'activities in relation to 
the elderly, and then it is the Chair's intention to call upon each 
Commissioner to make whatever brief statement they see fit. 

Once Chairman Miller has testified, and the other Commission
ers have made whatever comments they want, then the committee 
will ask questions. 

Chairman Miller, we welcome you here today. We are glad to 
have you a?-d your colleagues with us. We understand you have an
other meeting scheduled not too long from now, and obviously, you 
and we want to move as expeditiously as possible. 

We made a special effort, because of that meeting, to schedule 
you first. Normally, we schedule the people who have the responsi
bility of solving the problem after we have presented the problem 
but in order to accomIll:odate you, we wanted to have you all here: 
a,nd we do hope you WIll stay long enough to answer a few que~
tIons. 

So, Chairman Miller, would you please proceed? 

STATEMENT OF JAMES C. MILLER III, CHAIRMAN, FEDERAL 
TRADE COMMISSION 

Chairman MILLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
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We are very pleased to be here, and I thank you so much for 
making. these special arrangements so that we can address some 
matters that are of significant import to the Commission as well as 
to all Americans. ' 

~ would like to, for myself and on behalf of my colleagues, com
p~Iment the commI.ttee for holding these hearings and for develop
In&, the survey, yvhlCh we plan to mine for all it is worth, in devel
opIng and helpIng to develop our approaches to these important 
problems. 

Mr. Cha~rn;Lan, I have submitted a prepared statement, and with 
your permiSSlOn, I would ask that it be inserted in the record and 
that I simply summarize my statement. . 
Cha~rman HEINZ. Without objection, so ordered. 1 

ChaIrman l\fILLER. Thank you, sir. 
Let me just tell you briefly about the Commission's overall con

sumer protection program. Our focus really is on basic consumer 
p.r<?tection, in. p~rticulfl:r, preventing fraud, insuring truthful adver
tiSIng, and makIng bUSInesses keep their promises. 

We feel the elderly are particularly vulnerable to some of these 
abuses. Many ·of them live on fixed incomes, and many of them are 
not nearly as mobile as other consumers. 

Three aspects of our consumer protection program I think de-
serve specia.l mention. ' , 

First, we have increased our commitment to traditional law en
forc~ment. For ~xamp!e, we recently charged four companies with 
outright fraud, IncludIng the largest marketer of investment dia
monds. Vtf e also charged a builder of new homes with failing to live 
up to its warranties. 

Secon.d, we are enforcing the Commission's rules to prevent 
fraud. li'or example, yve find that mail order problems are the larg
est source of complaInts to the Commission. Scrutiny of mail order 
fraud is a high priority for us, and I think it is a high priority for 
elderly citizens. 

Third, we are emphasizing consumer education directed at the el
derly. For example, we have developed a project jointly with the 
AARP to help the elderly recognize the problems that they face 
an~ help ~hem to deal with their problems more effectively. The 
proJects wI~l help. them detect various kinds of frauds, including 
those a?soclated. WIth door-to~door sales. It will also help the elderly 
~;omplaIn effectively, and dIrect them to contact local State or 
Federal law enforcement officials. Jointly with the AARP, we have 
also developed two programs on housing alternatives, including in
dependent homes, and rest homes. We have distributed materials 
~m generic drugs, warranties, eq?al credit opportunity, and other 
Issues, to let consumers know theIr rights. 

Now let me deal with a few specific areas that I understand are 
of particular interest to this committee. 

First, the Commission's health care program. Mr. Chairman, as 
you know, the Commission has stood united in its opposition in 
recent years to an effort to have the Commission's authority in the 
health care area taken away. I think nothing is more important in 
our reauthorization than that the Commission retain the authority 

1 See page 7. 
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to look at commercial practices of medical professions and other 
professionals, and insure that they, too, abide by the Federal laws 
against fraud, deception, price-fixing, and boycotts. And I think 
this is of particular concern to older Americans. 

Our health care program increases competition and lowers cost. 
For example, as a result of the AMA case physicians can now ad
vertise that they can make housecalls, something that is very im
portant to the elderly, and that whether they are accessible by. 
public transportation. As a result of the American Dental Associ
ation consent, dentists can now advertise about dentures. That is 
very important. We have also addressed vision care. As you know, 
Mr. Chairman, approximately 90 percent of elderly Americans 
wear corrective lenses. The Commission's eyeglass rule insures that 
consumers can obtain a prescription so they can comparison shop 
for their corrective lenses. In our eyeglasses II proceeding, we are 
investigating the possibn~ty that there are unnecessary restraints 
on competition in optometry resulting from current restrictions on 
the use of trade names, opening of branch offices, and limitations 
on' where a company or a practitioner may be located. We have 
new investigations and new initiatives in this area, including inves
tigations of the advertising of over-the-counter products, including 

. those meant to deal with arthritis; the marketing of nonsurgical 
treatments to combat signs of aging; and the advertising of food or 
special diet needs. 

Second, the Commission's housing and land sales programs. We 
are very interested in the time-sharing problem. This is a new and 
growing industry that has very many positive aspects. But the 
nature of the industry is one where there is a potential for prob
lems. And we are currently involved in a number of investigations. 

In the housing area, we are also investigating the warranty prac
tices of two builders. 

Third, we have a program to review franchises and other invest
ment opportunities. For example, we have charged two companies 
with violating our franchise rule and are seeking penalties and 
other redress. We are investigating the sale of filing services for oil 
and gas lotteries. We have authorized injunctive actions against 
marketers of investment diamonds, as I mentioned, we are investi
gating sales of other hard assets and cash commodity investments. 

Fourth, we have several investigations in the area of age discrim
ination and credit including one where we believe the companies 
have discouraged the elderly from seeking credit; another for alleg
edly applying higher standards to the elderly for the purpose of ap
proving credit; and a third for allegedly granting credit to the el
derly only on more restrictive conditions. 

Now, I would hasten to add that some of the very good work of 
our economists a:ld some econometric modeling has aided us in 
identifying companies where this kind of discrimination might 
exist and getting evidence on this kind of discrimination in a much 
more cost-effective way. 

Now let me address an issue I know is controversial, and that is 
the funeral industry, and I will try to be brief. I think this subject 
deserves mention because the funeral industry is one where there 
may well be market imperfections, as an economist would can 
them. People do their purchasing under stress, and usually they 

7 

have no prior experience when they make funeral arrangements. I. 
have always said that I think this is an appropriate industry for 
the Federal Trade Commission to address. 

Last JUly the Commission approved a rule in the funeral area. I 
dissented from that decision and recommended a reopening of the 
record. I did not think there was reliable evidence about ,how the 
industry operated, or evidence on how the remedy would ~olve the 
problems, and I th1nk it ignored some opportunities for .Impr?Ve
ments. But perhaps most importantly, I felt that the eVIdentIary 
standards that the courts would require of us were not met, and 
therefore in the end there was a keen likelihood that the Commis
sion's eff~rt would b~ overturned in the courts. Therefore, I dissent
ed from that decision. 

Now I do share the concerns of my fellow Commissioners that 
this industry may need some special attenti.on. But I t~ink we need 
to act in a way that is finely tuned, that wIll be effectIve, and that 
will stand the test of the courts. . 

As you know, Mr. Chairman, the COl;gress vetoed the CommI~
sion's used car rule. The constitutionahty of the used car rule IS 
now before the Supreme Court of the land. Under the provisions of 
the FTC Improvements Act, I proposed the issuance of a:lOther 
used car rule after the congressional veto that would deal wIth the 
two main problems we found-first, misrepresentations by dealers 
about responsibilities for repair, and. second, what an "as is" sale 
means. Therefore, I proposed a rule that would co~tain a w~rni?* 
that oral promises are hard to enforce, an explanatIOn o~ an as ~s 
sale identification of the major systems of an automobIle, and In
for~ation on warranties provided and their terms. This would all 
be on the sticker in the window. 

In conclusion, I think the Commission has acted to address the 
concerns of older Americans. We bring cases against fraud and the 
kinds of cases that you identified in your study, Mr. Chairman. We 
bring cases that have benefits not only in terms of the redress to 
the consumers injured, but also have a deterrent value. 

One thing I would like to indicate, ~f I might, is that we are 
going to be pressing for tougher penaltIes and more ~onsumer re
dress for violations of our rules. The deterrent effect IS very, very 
~~rla~ . 

We look forward Mr. Chairman, and members of the commIttee, 
to working with you in the future 0.0. these ~nd other problems 
facing the elderly, and we hope to solICIt your Ideas. Whenever we 
can be of assistance to you, we will be glad to do so. 

Thank you. 
Chairman HEINZ. Chairman Miller, thank you very much. 
[The prepared statement of Chairman Miller follows:] 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JAMES C. MILLER III 

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, my collea~u~s ~nd I ~I?p.reciate this 
opportunity to describe some of the Federal Trade CommISSIOn s actIvItIes ad.dress
ing the problems faced by our Nat~on's e!derly ~onsumers. Vj'e would also lIke to 
compliment the committee for holdIng thIS hearIng ~n~ for ~ts surv~y of areas of 
fraud of most concern to older Americans. The CommISSIon WIll certaInly J?ake use 
of your data in its continued effort to allocate law enforcement resources In a cost
effective manner. 
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The Commission places a high priority on providing l;lasic consumer protection
preventing fraud, insuring truthful advertising, and requiring that busmesses keep 
their promises. This is part~cularly important to the elderly. T~ey tend to b~ vulner
able to unlawful practices m these areas because they often live on fixed mcomes, 
and a substantial portion of them are less mobile than other consumers. 

Three aspects of the Commission's consumer protf'ction effort deserve particular 
mention. First we have increased our commitment to traditional law enforcement. 
For example, ~e have recently charged four comp~nies with outright fraud. O~e 
case involves a marketer of investment diamonds WIth sales of more than $100 mIl
lion annually. Another complaint accused a company that sells services in connec
tion with oil and gas leasing of misr~presen~ing the value of its services: V(e are 
also suing firms that fail to honor theIr promIses. ~or ex~mple, the C?mmISSIOn :e
cently charged a builder of new homes not only WIth mIsrepresentations about Its 
homes but with failure to liv~ up to its written warranties. 

Seco'nd, we are actively enforcing the ComI,llission's rules designed to . protect con
sumers in the marketplace. For example, ma~.l~rder problems are the sI,ngle la;rgest 
source of consumer complaints to the CommISSIon, and an area of partlCular mter
est to the elderly who often must rely on such services because of their lessened 
mobility. In 1980; a report by the Government Acco~nting Office foun~ t.hat the 
Commission had not devoted adequate resources to this area. The CommISSIOn now 
has made scrutiny of mail-order programs one of its highest priorities. 

Third, we recognize that, despite best efforts, we cannot remedy each an? .every 
problem and that our intervention usually occurs only after consumers are mJured. 
Thus, w~ bolster our enforcement programs with efforts to communicate to consum
ers the rights they have under existing laws and Commission rules. In that way, 
consumers are better able to protect themselves from being the victims of unlawful 
activity. 

We have given greater emphasis to informing the elderly about high-risk market
place frauds'. For example, nearing completion is a training program th~t we have 
developed with the American Association of Retired Persons (AARP). This program 
will enable consumers to detect questionable solicitations more quickly and bring 
them to the attention of law enforcement officials more effectively. Of particular 
concern are door-to-door sales and mail-order shopping. In addition, we have begun 
work with the AARP on two other training programs, both involving housing. One 
program deals with independent living, the other with alternatives, such as nursing 
homes. We are very pleased that the AARP plans to distribute these programs 
through their network of 5,000 local affIliates around the country. . 

Other types of consumer education initiatives include information about a WIde 
range of issues. For example, we are developing radio public service announcements 
to aid consumers in shopping for used cars. We also have available materials on 
topics ranging from generic drugs and warranties, to consumers' rights under the 
Equal Credit Opportunity Act. 

Let me now turn to some of the areas in which I understand this committee has 
specific interest. 

Consumers aged 65 and older spend almost three times as much on health care 
per capita as do consumers aged 19 to 64. Because many persons over 65 live on 
fixed incomes, Commission activities aimed at preventing anticompetitive conduct in 
the health care industry is of substantial benefit to them. The purpose of our eff~rts 
in this area is to stimulate and strengthen competitive forces, thereby decreasmg 
the need for Government regulation, increasing consumer choice among providers of 
health care services, and lowering their cost. For example, in the AMA case, the 
Commission struck down restrictions on truthful advertising by physicians and on 
physicians working on a salaried basis for hospitals and health maintenance o~gani
zations (HMO's). Physicians are now free to provide consumers with truthful mfor
mation about the services they offer, including information of critical importance to 
older Americans-for example, prices for routine services; office hours; whether 
they accept medicare reimbursement; whether they offer discounts to the elderly; 
whether they make house calls; and whether they are accessible by public transpor
tation, Hospitals and HMO's are now permitted to employ physicians on a salaried 
basis, often leading to lower costs. Likewise, the Commission's consent agreement 
with the American Dental Association allows dentists to advertise such services as 
fitting dentures-giving many older patients useful information and the benefits of 
greater price competition. 

It comes as no surprise to learn that 9 out of 10 persons over the age of 65 wear 
con-ective lenses, Two of the Commission's programs are of particular relevance 
here. The first, the "eyeglasses rule," gives consumers the right to obtain a copy of 
their prescription after having their eyes examined. With that prescription, consum-
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ers are then able to comparison shpp for eyeglasses, and realize the benefits of the 
resultant increase in price competition among eyeglass providers. 

In its "eyeglasses II" proceeding, the Commission has instructed the staff to inves
tigate various restrictions on the commercial aspects of the practice of optometry. 
Rules that prevent optometrists from practicing under a trade name, working for a 
lay corporation, locating their practice in a commercial setting, and from operating 
branch offices are being studied to determine whether they affect the availability 
and price of vision care services. 

Among the new initiatives directed at health care fraud, the staff is investigating 
an array of over-the-counter drug products designed to treat infirmities suffered by 
the elderly, including arthritis. Many of these products are allegedly bogus remedies 
purchased by desperately ill elderly persons. We are also investigating the market
ing and provision of nonsurgical treatments to combat the signs of aging. 

Products marketed specifically to consumers with health problems are also of con
cern. For example, we are investigating advertising claims about foods marketed to 
consumers with special diet needs. 

Another area of continued concern is housing and land sales. Within this pro
gram, we have focused considerable resources on time-sharing, a rapidly growing 
new industry with annual revenues that reached an estimated $1.5 billion in 1981. 
This growth has been accompanied by an increase in the number of consumer com
plaints lodged against developers and marketers of time-share units. To respond to 
the growing number of complaints, we formed a time-share task force in January 
1982, to coordinate our investigations in this area. In addition, we are investigating 
five time-share developers and marketers. Because time-sharing is relatively new, 
we are particularly interested in determining whether consumers understand the 
nature and limits of this form of property ownership. 

In the area of housing, we have conducted an investigation of the warranty prac
tices of a housing manufacturer that allegedly failed to honor its warranty obliga
tions by claiming that it had gone out of business. We are also conducting investiga
tions of the warranty practices of two builders. 

We continue to have an active program of enforcement under the franchise rule, 
an area where there may be significant fraud affecting the elderly. For example, the 
Commission recently charged two companies with fraud and violations of this rule, 
and is seeking civil penalties and consumer redress. One company sold snack food 
distributorships, and the other sold amusement game business opportunities. Sever
al additional cases are pending in this program. 

Franchises are not the only type of investment opportunity where there are seri
ous consumer protection problems. For example, as mentioned earlier, the Commis
sion has pursued an investigation of filing services for oil and gas leases, and has 
authorized injunctive actions against the Nation's largest marketer of investment 
diamonds to consumers. We are also investigating deceptive sales practices and out
right fraud in the sale of other hard assets and cash commodities. 

Age discrimination in granting credit is another area of Commission involvement 
that is of obvious concern to elderly Americans. Several investigations of alleged age 
discriminations by financial companies are underway. The practices include denial 
of credit to the elderly, discouraging the elderly from applying for credit, subjecting 
the elderly to a higher standard for credit approval, granting credit with more re
strictive terms, and failing to consider protected sources of income, such as social 
security and retirement income. 

Another area that deserves the Commission's close attention is the funeral indus
try. Although funerals are a major purchase, consumers often make their purchase 
decisions under stress, lacking the benefit of prior purchase experience. Without suf
ficient information and opportunity to make informed choices, consumers may be 
harmed. 

As you know, last JUly, a majority of the Commission approved an industrywid~ 
rule in this area, which was submitted to Congress for review under the veto provi
sions of the FTC Improvements Act of 1980. The stated purpose of that rule is to 
protect consumers in their purchase of funeral services. However, I dissented from 
the Commission's action on the rule, convinced that preferred options were being 
ignored. 

The Commission's lengthy investigation of the funeral industry disclosed the ex
istence of potential problems of unfairness and deception. Despite its bulk, however, 
the record was devoid of reliable evidence describing how the industry works or the 
extent of its alleged problems. Moreover, we had no evidence demonstrating how the 
proposed remedies' would solve these alleged problems. For this reason, I recom
mended reorening the record to consider updated and reliable data, including the 
Commission s own highly probative, postrecord "baseline" study of the industry. 

-~~-~.- ----, 
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Without reliable evidence, the Commission has no basis for knowing whether the 
rule addresses real problems or instead attacks symptoms. I am concerned, for ex
ample, that the rule ignores evidence of anticompetitive practices, such as threats 
and boycotts, that may have discouraged the development of low-cost, alternative 
funeral services. Moreover, the paucity of evidence makes the rule vulnerable to a 
successful legal challenge. 

I share your and my fellow Commissioners' concerns about the effects of funeral 
industry practices on elderly consumers. Because the current rule promises benefits 
I do not believe it can deliver, I continue to believe its promulgation is an exercise 
in deception rather than true consumer protection. 

The committee's survey also found automobile sales fraud to be a major source of 
concern among consumers. Some of that concern may stem from the sales practices 
of the used car industry. I have proposed a revised used car rule to address the in
dustry's two major problems: Misrepresentations regarding dealers' responsibilities 
to make repairs after sales, and the lack of consumer understanding of dealers' re
sponsibilities when a car is sold "as is." The revised rule would require used car 
dealers to post a window sticker with information on the warranties provided and 
their terms, an admonition that written promises are easier to enforce than spoken 
promises, a statement advising consumers that they may have additional "implied 
warranty" rights under State law, a clear explanation of what is meant by the term 
"as is," as well as an identification of the major mechanical and safety systems of 
the car and whether each is warranted or offered "as is." In short, the rule would 
require dealers to tell consumers-up front and in writing-who will pay for repairs 
if a car proves to be defective, whether or not the defect is known at the time of 
sale. Most importantly, it would do so without creating the uncertainty about the 
dealer's responsibilities that led Congress to reject the previous rule. 

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, as you can see, the Commission is 
quite active in addressing the consumer problems of older Americans. Moreover, in 
recent months we have given additional emphasis to cases involving outright fraud. 
The orders resulting from these cases will benefit consumers-not only in terms of 
the redress they receive, but in the increased deterrence value produced by well
directed and vigorous law enforcement. We look forward to working with this com
mittee in the year ahead in identifying and targeting other fraudulent activities af
fecting older Americans. 

Chairman HEINZ. Let me ask other members of the Commission 
if they have any brief comments or statements. Commissioner 
Bailey. 

Commissioner BAILEY. Mr. Chairman, thank you very much, I 
would be happy to take my turn in the seniority line and let Com
missioner Clanton go first, but if you want me to, I will. 

Chairman HEINZ. What is your seniority line on the Commis
sion? We always observe seniority here. 

Commissioner BAILEY. I come very close to the end. [Laughter.] 
Chairman HEINZ. All right, Commissioner Clanton. 

STATEMENT OF DAVID A. CLANTON, COMMISSIONER, FEDERAL 
TRADE COMMISSION 

Commissioner CLANTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Just some very brief comments. I echo very much what the 

Chairman has said about the kinds of programs we have. I think, 
by and large, much of what we are doing in the consumer protec
tion area, even if it is not always directly oriented to the elderly, 
has had a large indirect effect on them. In fact, I think there is 
virtually nothing that we are involved in that does not have some 
special impact for elderly consumers who just are not in the posi
tion to shop as readily, to move around and make the decisions 
that other consumers are. As a result of that, what we are doing 
here by and large is very good. 

I do disagree with the Chairman, as you probably know, on the 
funeral rule. We have a record that supports action, It is a transac-
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tion that far and away is different in its whole nature and scope 
from any ot~~r consumer transaction. There just is not arm's
l~ngth bargaInIng because of the obvious emotional stress and ten
SIOn that ~xist~ ~n that .situat~on. ,What we tried to do is develop a 
rule that I~ mInImally IntrusIve ~n the sense of trying to regulate 
eyery ~etaII~d aspect of that bUSIness, but at the same time, pro
vld~s IncentIves to consumers, gives them information, makes it 
eaSIer for them to bargain, and to decide what kinds of services 
and p~oducts they want. 1'he record supports both the fact that 
:here IS a problem and the fact that this kind of remedy makes 
some sense. 

I just would like to isolate one additional issue that the Chair
man ~id not specifically allude to-which is important. That is the 
questIOn of s:peed of action. The Commission realizes the impor
t~nc,e of mOVIng qU.ICkly on matters. In past years, the Commis
SIOn s problem was In part related to the administrative process
where we have to bring a case, have it go before an administrative 
law judge, then reviewed by the Commission and the courts. And 
because of b.ction in the midseventies, we obtained clearer authori
ty to go directly into court to get injunctive relief, to get redress, 
an~ so forth, wher~ there was clearcut evidence of fraud, garden 
v~nety-typ~ deceptIOn. Tl:0~e cas,es do not deal with a need for spe
CIal exper~Ise. of an admInIstrative body. The law is pretty clear. 
:r'he que~tlOn IS, What are the facts; what is the kind of relief that 
IS effective? We have been pursuing the latter route much more 
frequently.in t1;e last few ye~rs, that is, going into court, seeking 
prompt rehef-In some cases, m fact, in one extreme case, we even 
sought an ex parte freezing of assets because of the fear that those 
assets would be clipsipated. So, as a practical matter if we are able 
to move more quickly and more effectively, we can deal better with 
some ,Problems that specifically affect the elderly, such as fraud. 
The ~I~ficulty that States have in many cases is they are just not in 
~ pOSItion to chase these people around the country. I think we are 
In a better position than the States in this regard. Admittedly, in 
some cases, the problem is severe enough to deserve criminal 
action which, obviously, we cannot pursue. Nevertheless if we are 
able to move quickly and effectively, to get injunctive 'relief and 
monetary redress, that can be very valuable. I think we are seeing 
some of the benefits of that. 

Thank you. 
Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much, Commissioner Clanton. 

Commissioner Pertschuk. 

STATEMENT OF MICHAEL PERTSCHUK, COMMISSIONER, 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I.have a short statement. First of all, Mr. Chairman, in under

takIng your sur':Tey of the economic victimization of the elderly, you 
and your commIttee have performed a critical service' there is no 
doubt of it. ' 

Your lan~mark study shatters the complacent myth of the uni
formly benIgn marketplace-the myth that older Americans and 
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other consumers no longer need the vigorou~ force ?f Goverm:I?en t 
law enforcement to police unfair and deceptlve bUSIness practlc~s. 

Just for one example, as you know, within the las~ 2 weeks In 
every congressional district, delegations of funeral dIrectors haye 
converged on their Congressmen-and perhaps a few S~n~tors-In
sisting that there is no need f?r a Federal Trade qon:mlssIOn funer
al cost disclosure rule. There IS no problem, they InsIst; no need for 
Government interference in what they call "the fiduciary trust be-
tween the bereaved and the funeral director." . 

Your survey, which finds funeral abuses among the leadIng. 10 
consumer complaints of the elderly, confirms the need for actlon. 
Indeed, your study dramatically confirms what the FTC ha~ too 
slowly come to understand-that the problems of older Amenca~s 
are and must be a principal concern of the Federal Trade CommIS-
sion. 

Among your top frauds upon the elderly, seven are on the C~m
mission's agenda: Health-related frauds, "bunco" sc?emes, housIng 
and land fraud, nursing home problems, automobIle sale.s fraud, 
business opportunity and investment frauds, and funeral Industry 
practices. , d b t 't 

In short, your study confirms the Commi~si?n ~ ag~n!l~ u 1 
also raises serious challenges to the CommIssIon s pnontles and 
performance. The Federal Trade Commission has been making 
promises to older Americans for more ~han a dec~de. The funeral 
investigation, for example, was begun In 1972. It IS now a decade 
old. d 

The truth is Mr. Chairman, that the Commission has yet to e-
liver on many' of its promises. To the credit of the Commissio?ls 
present leadership, significant cases have been and. ar~ b~In~ 
brought in three areas: Phony inves~ment s~~emes, c~ed~t dlspnmI
nation against the elderly, and antICompetltive restrICtIOns In the 
health-related professions. .. . 

The committee should note, however, that the CommIssIOn faces 
inherent limitations in the effective pursuit of hardcore fraud. 
With its powers limited to civil penalties, the Comm~ssion hi~t?ri
cally has had limited success in reaching an~ effectlvely pohcI.ng 
what is essentially criminal conduct. The JustICe Department wIth 
its grand juries, the Postal authorities, and the States' attorneys 
general are generally better suited to prosecute the fringe opera
tors. But where we have some reali.stic hope, not only of or~enn~ a 
halt to such behavior, but of recovering a~sets to be used In .re~m
bursing defrauded consumers, then I certaInly support CommIssIOn 
action. 

The Commission as the Chairman has indicated, has continued 
to challenge anticbmpetitive restrictions in the p~ofessional ~erv
ices, particularly in the health-related. professIOns, es.pecI~lly 
among physicians, dentists, and optor:ne~n~ts, all areas of. pnn:e 
concern in your survey. Yet the 90mmls~IOn s propose~ hearm~ .ald 
rule, which treats a costly, sometimes pamf?l transactIOn of crItical 
importance to elderly consumers, has langUIshed. 

With the record complete and the hearings concluded, the Com
mission in October 1979 asked its staff to prepare final recommen
dations on the proposal to require a 30-day cooling-off period. to 
enable hearing aid consumers to determine whether the hearIng 
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aid is suitable for their particular need. Yet the final staff propos
als have not yet been brought before the Commission for action. 

Your survey identified mobile home problems as a key issue for 
older Americans. Yet the Commission's proposed mobile home war
ranty-performance rule has not been sent forward for action to the 
Commission, although hearings on the proposed rule were complet
ed in July 1978. Today mobile homes are perhaps the main source 
of moderately priced new housing available to retired Americans 
on limited, fixed incomes. The record contains substantial evidence 
of serious flaws in warranty performance in the delivery of mobile 
homes, yet action by the Commission does not appear imminent. 

Mr. Chairman~ you are exactly right when you express-and I 
quote you-the "startling conclusion that frauds against the elder
ly are increasing while resources to combat fraud are diminishing." 

Unhappily, the hard truth is that the Federal Trade Commission 
will not soon meet its share of the responsibility for policing the 
economic exploitation of older Americans. The administration of 
the Commission is presently committed to policies, priorities, and 
budget allocations which deflect resources away from actions re
sponsive to the very wrongs your survey has uncovered. 

More economists in Washington, fewer law enforcement staff in 
the Commission's regional offices, excessive and sometimes stultify
ing layers of economic analysis and review, and an obsession with 
the pursuit of deregulatory theories at the expense of rules and 
cases will bring little relief to economically stressed and victimized 
older Americans. 

But at least your hearings serve to call forcefully to the Commis
sion's attention the fact that for all the wonders of the free market, 
there are human victims of its failures. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman .. 
Chairman HEINZ. Commissioner Pertschuk, thank you. Commis

sioner Bailey. 

STATEMENT OF PATRICIA P. BAILEY, COMMISSIONER, FEDERAL 
TRADE COMMISSION 

Commissioner BAILEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You can see 
why I was tempted by your offer to let me go first, but I am used to 
having to struggle to say something that has not already been said 
by the time it gets to be my turn. 

I want to thank you, along with my colleagues, for asking us to 
be here to discuss the problems which older consumers face in the 
marketplace and what the FTC is trying to do about it. 

Chairman Miller and others have already outlined a great deal 
of the Commission's work in several areas, and I would like only to 
highlight a few specific subjects. 

First, I want to emphasize how important I believe the Commis
sion's work in health care is to older Americans. A substantial por
tion of the Chairman's testimony, and particularly his prepared 
t.el:ilJimony, concerned our initiatives in that area, and the truth is 
that all of those activities, and others, have a very significant 
impact on all consumers, and especially on the elderly. Under
standing that, I would like to underscore something that the Chair
man mentioned. That is that most, if not all of our work in health 
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care, would have to be discontinued if professionals and profession
al associations are exempted from the FTC's jurisdiction, as has 
been proposed by some in the Congress. I think it is very impor
tant, in the context of this committee's concern, to understand 
what the impact of a profession's exemption would be. 

Second, since fraud in the sale of automobiles is among the top 
10 problems which appear in the committee's survey, and since I 
was the spokesperson in 1981 and 1982 for the Commission's used 
car rule, I will say a word about that. 

As you are aware, the Commission promulgated the used car rule 
in 1981 for the purpose of trying to remedy some of the problems 
we identified in the used car transaction through the vehicle of in
formation disclosure requirements. The rule would have required a 
window sticker displaying clear warranty information and an ex
planation of the meaning of an "as is" sale, and it also would have 
required dealers to disclose to potential buyers any of a certain list 
of major defects which existed in the car if the dealer knew about 
them. That rule was vetoed by both Houses of the Congress. And I 
believe the Chairman misspoke ~n his testimony-the constitution
ality of the two-House veto, not the used car rule, is presently 
before the courts, under review by the Supreme Court, and as a 
result, the used car rule's future status is uncertain. 

However, the evidentiary findings on which the Commission 
based the rule may be of assistance to the committee in evaluating 
other approaches to this problem, and I am sure the Commission 
would be pleased to provide any assistance that the committee may 
wish in this regard. . 

Third, since my appointment to the Commission in 1979, I have 
taken a special interest in the problem of credit discrimination, in
cluding that faced by older Americans. And here again, I will only 
add to what the Chairman has said. In 1977, the Congress extended 
the Equal Credit Opportunity Act's prohibitions on sex and marital 
status discrimination, to cover, as well, discrimination on the basis 
of age. The FTC has a major responsibility for enforcing that law 
with respect to the activities of loan companies, retailers, oil and 
gas credit card issuers, and issuers of travel and entertainment 
cards, such as Diners' Club and American Express. Recently, we 
have begun to concentrate on discrimination against the elderly, 
and we have developed and will continue to develop law enforce
ment initiatives in this area. Once again, we would be pleased to 
provide whatever assistance the committee may wish in pursuing 
older consumers' credit problems. 

And finally, Commissioner Clanton and Commissioner Pertschuk 
have both described the Commission's recently issued funeral rule, 
which is now pending before the Congress, for consideration under 
the legislative veto. I support that rule. I believe it will be of con
siderable assistance to consumers, and I very much hope the Con
gress will agree with that judgment. 

Thank you. 
Chairman HEINZ. Commissioner Bailey, thank you. Commission

er Douglas. 
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STATEMENT OF GEORGE W. DOUGLAS, COMMISSIONER, 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

Mr. DOUGLAS. Good morning. 
Thank you for having us here this morning. I think we all wel

come your investigation, and it gives us an opportunity to discuss 
with you consumer protection, particularly that for the elderly. 

I can assure you that we all regard consumer protection as one 
of the most important missions of the Federal Trade Commission, 
and we look forward to studying the findings and recommendations 
of this committee. 

I would like to make a couple of points-I first would like to echo 
the point made by Commissioner Bailey as to the importance of our 
work in the health area. This is obviously an area which is of great 
concern to the elderly Americans. Many of our cases are very im
portant in restraining inflation in health care costs. The Commis
sion is united in opposing the professional exemption which would 
prevent us from assisting elderly and containing health care costs. 

I would finally just like to make a comment regarding Commis
sioner Pertschvk's complaint that the Commission is devoting 
excess resources to economic studies. I think this is a false impres
sion to leave with you. Many of the economic activities are related 
to deregulation. Deregulation, in many cases, is very important in 
containing costs of services that the elderly pay. The Federal Trade 
Commission in the past has assisted in deregulating the airline in
dustry, deregulating surface transportation, which keeps the cost of 
bus transportation down, which is of importance to the elderly, as 
well as all Americans. 

Second, with a specific example in mind, we have recently suc
cessfully prosecuted a case of age discrimination in the granting of 
credit. The evidence and the detection of this discrimination was 
possible only by the use of the skills of the economists at the Feder
al Trade Commission. I see this as a harbinger of more imaginative 
and. effective use of economists in carrying out our mandate, and I 
would not like to have you get the wrong impression, that the in
creasing resources that we are devoting to that aspect of law en
forcement is meant to do anything but increase our effectiveness. 

Thank you. 
Chairman HEINZ. Thank you, Commissioner Douglas. 
I would like to direct your attention to the survey that the com-

mittee has completed. . 
The survey of the various consumer and law enforcement agen

cies involved questioning as to consumer complaints, not concerns, 
but actual instances of things that came into the district attorney's 
office, the Consumer Protection Agency, the police department, or 
many of the other agencies that we surveyed. 

One of the questions that was asked was, In your experience, are 
the elderly or the younger age groups more victimized, or are both 
victimized about the same? Seventy-seven percent of our survey re
spondents reported that the elderly were victimized more. Now, 
Chairman Miller, does that suggest to you, frankly, as it does to 
me, that the Federal Trade Commission's work will result, really, 
in more protection to the elderly consumer above any other con
sumer group in the Nation? 
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Chairman MILLER. Well, Mr. Chairman, I think the Federal 
Trade Commission must serve all consumers in our Nation. But to 
the extent that the elderly are especially victimized, I think a spe
cial burden is placed upon us to make sure that our programs are 
effective in addressing their particular problems, as well as the 
problems of other Americans. . 

Chairman HEINZ. It would seem to me that certaInly, you have a 
responsibility to all Americans. But given this information-which 
is literally hot off the presses-which is very reliable-we got very 
high response rates-it would seem to b.e fairly difficult to contest 
the proposition that that group of Amencans that benefit the most 
from your protection are the elderly. .. 

Does anybody want to dispute or support that pOInt? CommIs
sioner Pertschuk. 

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. Mr. Chairman, it certainly is correct, 
and I was just going to observe that t~e organizatio~s .th~t .haye 
been most active and effective in protecting the CommIssIOn s Juns
diction, because I think they recognize the importance .of the FT~, 
are the organizations of the elderly such as .the Am~nca~ ASSOCI
ation of Retired Persons, the National CouncIl of SenIor .CItizeps. I 
think the expression of their concern that the FTC remaIn a viable 
presence in these areas has been an important part of the Commis
sion's support. 

Chairman HEINZ. There were 10 frauds that were reported as 
being most harmful to the elderly-again, these w~re based on 
complaints received. Of the 10, it is my understandIng that 7 of 
them fall into FTC jurisdiction. The ones that do not would be 
home repair and improvement schemes-those would be local
"bunco" schemes-those would be local-and soci.al frauds. But the 
others, quackery and medical-related fr.auds, insuran?e frauds, 
housing, land sale, and rental frauds, bUSIness oppor~unity frauds, 
nursing home frauds automobile purchase and repaIr frauds, and 
funeral frauds, are ~ery much in your jurisdiction, and indeed, 
wathan the jurisdiction of no agency of more import than yours. 

Chairman Miller, would you agree? 
Chairman MILLER. I would agree with that. I would just beg to 

point out, Mr. Chairman, we were relieved of our authority ?ver 
the insurance industry a few years ago, so we do not have dIrect 
authority in the insurance area. But you are right, the. Federal 
Trade Commission is the agency that has more authonty over 
these particular items that you have read for us, and it is incum
bent upon us to persevere in making sure that these kinds of .prob
lems are minimized for older Americans and for other Amencans, 
as well. 

Chairman HEINZ. Chairman Miller, in your testimony, you stated 
that mail-order problems ..ire the largest single source of com
plaints to your Commission, and that accordingly, you have made 
scrutiny of mail-order problems a very high priority. 

Can you tell us a little bit more about the kinds of complaints 
you have received and what, specifically, you are doing about 
them? 

Chairman MILLER. Well, the kinds of complaints we receive are 
very frequently that people receive things that they did not order, 
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or that checks that they have !=lent in were cashed, but the orders 
were not received. 

We have a mail-order rule, which is a good rule, and I support it. 
And what we have tried to do is to both inform consumers of their 
rights under the mail-order rule and also instruct mail-order orga
nizations and the companies engaged in mail-order business what 
the Commission's rules are. 

And I will have to give credit here to Commissioner Clanton for 
developing, when he was interim Chairman of the Federal Trade 
Commission, a program, and working with the Direct Mail Market
ing Association, on a brochure that we developed in conjunction 
with the association. As a result of this, the members of the Direct 
Mail Marketing Association are sending out thousands of these bro
chures that are written in plain English that a consumer can un
derstand. It tells the consumer what his rights are and what to do 
if he receives something in the mail he did not order, or if a ship
ment is delayed, or whatever. 

So it has two effects. It has the effect of telling consumers what 
their rights are, but it also has the effect of reminding the compa
nies who engage in mail-order sales what their responsibilities are 
under our mail-order rule. We have been very pleased with this, a 
kind of cooperative venture that I think serves both consumers and 
companies. The result is greater conformance with our rule. 

Chairman HEINZ. Are you familiar with S. 450, the legislation in
troduced by Senator Pryor, myself, and others, that would give the 
Postal Inspector considerably more powers to deal with mail fraud? 

Chairman MILLER. I know if it, but I do not know the particulars. 
Chairman HEINZ. May I ask you this, Chairman Miller. Would 

you please take a careful look at that legislation and give us ~our 
views on .it and whether or not you can support it? It was legisla
tion that was reported favorably last year by the committee of ju
risdiction; Personally, as you may gather, as one of the cosponsors, 
I am very much for it. There is very little known opposition to it, 
but nevertheless, we did not get it to the floor, and it did not pass 
last year. We would appreciate your written views on that. 

Chairman MILLER. We will be glad to respond. 1 

Chairman HEINZ. Are there any other comments on mail fraud 
right now? 

[No response.] 
Chairman HEINZ. If not, I would yield to Senator Cohen, because 

I know he has a meeting of the Intelligence Committee at 10 
o'clock. 

Senator Cohen. 
Senator COHEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and with your per

mission, I would like to enter a statement in the record. 
Chairman HEINZ. Without objection, so ordered. 
[The statement of Senator Cohen follows:] 

STATEMENT OF SENATOR WILLIAM S. COHEN 

Mr. Chairman, I want to commend you for putting together this morning's hear
ing to investigate the widespread problem of. fraud perpet~ated aga~nst the ~lderly. 
The committee staff has done an excellent Job of tabulatmg and InterpretIng the 

1 Material referred to not received at time of publication. 
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results of the survey conducted in 1981 and 1982, whose intent is to determine the 
extent of this frightening issue, and identify its key elements. 

The committee's survey has highlighted the sad fact that instances of fraudulent 
practices have increased over the past several years and that the elderly, as a seg
ment of our population, are specifically targeted by the con arti~ts i~v?lved in these 
activities. The amount of money that is taken from our semor CItIzens through 
fraud and deception is significant, and underlines the fact that this is a very serious 
problem. . . 

While we all have been "taken for a ride" in one form or another at some pomt m 
our lives, no group is singled out, like the elde.rly a!e, as potential victims of this 
kind of crime. The fact that they are targeted m thIS way poses problems for law
makers: Should crimes of this nature, because they are perpetrated against a more 
vulnerable group of citizens, be mor~ strictly sanctioned? Or does such an approach 
unfairly discriminate against the elderly? 

On the other hand, the fact that we are aware of the selection of seniors as prime 
targets for consumer and economic frauds gives us something to work with. From 
everyone I have spoken with about this problem, it appears that educational efforts 
would constitute a major part of the solution of this problem. 

In my own State of Maine, we have. been f?rtunate that awareness of fraud perI?e
trated against the elderly has been mcreasmg recently, not only among those m
volved in senior citizen advocacy groups or State agencies, but among others as well. 
Last year, the State attorney general s office joined the B~reau of Maine's Elderly 
in conducting 20 seminars around the State that dealt Wlth consumer fraud and 
how to combat it. The seminars were well-attended and well-received, and undoubt
edly contributed to a greater awareness on the part of the elderly to their vulner-
ability to fraud and deception. . . .., 

With the results of the commIttee's survey m hand, efforts hke that m Mame can 
be duplicated across the country, in an effort to educate potential victi~s of fra?d 
and deception. This can be achieved by working through already organlZed semor 
citizens' groups, of which there are many, through State attorneys general's offices, 
and State human services agencies, and through our congressional offices. 

Awareness of the extent of this problem is a key to finding a workable approac.h 
to reducing its impact on the elderly. Today's hearing is an imp~r~t part .of t~IS 
process, and what we accomplish here should be expanded, and thlS mformatlOn dIS
semmated to all parts of the country. 

Again, I commend the chairman for the work he has put into this hearing, and I 
hope our efforts here today will result in constructive action that will help the el
derly recognize and resist fraudulent practices. 

Senator COHEN. Mr. Chairman, I commend you for holding these 
hearings. I think it is an old Chinl9se proverb that says, "Man fools 
himself. He prays for long life, and yet he fears an old age." I think 
this hearing is designed to explon~ the reasons why that particular 
expression has a good deal of validity. 

Commissioner James Miller, Mr. Chairman, would you explain to 
me the difference that exists betwe~m yourself and the other mem
bers concerning the funeral rule? I came in at the very tail end of 
your statement, and I am not precisely sure exactly what your ob
jections to it are. I think you indicated that its promulgation is an 
exercise in deception, rather than true consumer protection. 

Chairman MILLER. Right. 
Senator COHEN. And let me say that I recall sitting on the Small 

Business Committee back in the Congress in 1973 when this issue 
first came up, and I frankly found that at that point, the case had 
been overstated on the need for the regulation and the proposed 
regulation, was quite extensive. It went into a detailed description 
as to whether or not individuals should select socks, have an item
ized description of whether they wanted underwear for their de
ceased, and it was really quite extensive, and I recall at that time, 
those hearings were rather provocative, and the issue has been 
here for the last 10 years. So I would like to know what the rule 
proposes that you find is really an exercise in deception, rather 
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than true consumer protection, because there seems to be quite a 
split within the Commission itself. 

Chairman MILLER. Senator Cohen, let me try to be brief. What 
we have, I think, is just an honest difference of opinion on the rule 
among the Commissioners, and I respect my fellow Commissioners 
for their views on the matter. 

Senator COHEN. Give me a summary of the rule itself. What does 
the rule do? 

Chairman MILLER. Well, the rule requires itemized listing, would 
forbid certaiIl deceptive practices, such as saying that a body has to 
be embalmed before it is cremated-that really is not true in many 
States-and things of this nature. But in fairness, the rule the 
Commission promulgated, pursuant to the directions it received 
from Congress, is not nearly as precise and specific in all details as 
the rule that may have been proposed in 1973. 

But what we have here is a difference of opinion. As I stated, I 
am very concerned that the Commission really docs not have quite 
as good a handle on the industry as it should have. There are a lot 
of changes the industry has undergone since the major data came 
in. The baseline study the Commission prepared contained certain 
information about the industry that is inconsistent with the predi
cate for the rule itself. The Commission refused, however, to re
ceive the baseline study into the evidentiary record. I believe that 
the probability is significant that the courts will simply find the 
Commission erred in promulgating the rule, not so much on the 
basis of its independent judgment about the rule, but in terms of 
the procedures followed, and the quantum of evidence the Commis
sion had to review, and the substance of that evidence. 

Therefore, I believe that there is a significant probability that 
the courts will overturn the rule, and we will have spent a lot of 
time going through this process, when we could have "'promulgated 
a better rule. For that reason, to advertise to the American people 
that we are going to do something quite substantial for them, espe
cially for the elderly, when I have strong suspicions that it will 
never happen, is, I believe, an act of deception. 

Senator COHEN. Well, my question is, is it because you feel the 
court is going to rule that the study that was done, or the recom
mendation was based on false or incomplete data, and therefore, 
because of the incompleteness of it all, it is a deception rather than 
true consumer protection, or do you find that the rules in and of 
themselves are deceptive in that they will not provide r.elief? Is it 
because it is based on inadequate data, or because the rule itself, 
aside from the data, would not provide true consumer relief? 

Chairman MILLER. Well, it is really both. First, I believe there is 
a significant probability that the courts will find the Commission 
erred in promUlgating the rule. 

Senator COHEN. Aside from that issue-set that aside. 
Chairman MILLER. Second, even assuming that the courts upheld 

the Commission's action, I believe it may be deceptive for the Com
mission to promise a lot in terms of what the rule will do, when I 
am not sure that all the provisions of the rule will be that positive; 
and further, the rule does not address some matters that may be of 
greater concern, and may be more the root causes of the problem 
that we observe than those addressed in the rule itself. 
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Senator COHEN. Could you tell me what those are because we are 
speaking in generalities now, and I assume that Senator Heinz, 
myself, and others, although I have not been the object of any 
floodtide of funeral directors coming into my office, I am sure we 
will be--

Chairman HEINZ. You will now. [Laughter.] 
Senator COHEN. But what are the specific objections that you 

have? . 
Chairman MILLER. One of the problams is package pricing. The 

rule requires "unbundling," allowing a person to purchase funeral 
components individually rather than packages. But it may be de
ceptive inasmuch as a funeral director can simply price these a la 
carte items very high and essentially price them out of the market 
relative to packages. So if we are assuring consumers they will be 
able to pick and choose when the rule lets funeral directors raise 
prices on the a la carte items, we are not really delivering that 
option to consumers. 

Second, I am very concerned, although I realize this is an area 
involving federalism issues, that there is a tendency among State 
governments and State boards to cartelize the industry by imposing 
certain rules and regulations that have the effect of setting unnec
essarily high standards. These standards operate to reduce competi
tion by restricting entry into the profession, among other ways. 
This may be far more important, in terms of delivery of services to 
consumers, than the kinds of matters that we address in the rule. 

It is very complicated. In the antitrust area, there are concerns 
about the effect of the State action doctrine. I do not think these 
issues were addressed sufficiently in the Commission's delibera
tions on the funeral rule itself. 

We just have an honest difference of opinion about this matter. 
Senator COHEN. Do you have a separate opinion on this matter 

that you have filed? 
Chairman MILLER. Yes, sir. 
Senator COHEN. Could you supply it to the committee, and then 

perhaps we could also get the views of the other members specifi
cally on that, because you seem to be alone, I think, virtually 
alone, in this assessment. 

Chairman MILLER. Yes, sir. I do not think Commissioner Douglas 
participated, so I do not know if he has any proposals. At the time 
of the voting out, it was the four Commissioners you see on the 
right. 1 

Commissioner DOUGLAs. This matter was taken up well before I 
joined the Commission, and I have not had an opportunity to study 
the record, and at this time, I do not know whether I will be 
making a statement for or against a veto of the rule. 

Senator COHEN. Who conducted the baseline study, Chairman 
Miller? 

Chairman MILLER. The baseline study was developed under the 
chairmanship of Commissioner Pertschuk-I think it is a terrific 
idea, and should be followed for every rule. 

Senator COHEN. Well, who decided that the baseline study should 
not become a part of the record? 

1 Material referred to not received at time of publication. 
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Chairman MILLER. The Commission, by majority vote. 
Senator COHEN. Commissioner Pertschuk, could you explain 

that? You originated it, and yet it did not become a part of the 
record; why is that? 

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. Yes, the answer is simple, Senator 
Cohen. The committee's investigation on funerals began in 1972, 
and the hearing record after 7' or 8 years was finally closed, so that 
the Commission could finish the rule. The basic problem was one of 
timing, first of all. The purpose of these baseline studies is to help 
the Commission evaluate the effectiveness of rules once they go 
into effect, to take a picture of the marketplace at the time a rule 
is proposed, so that 2 or 3 years later, the Commission can deter
mine how it has worked. So it was not primarily designed for evi
dentiary purposes. But in addition to that, of course, we placed it 
on the public record. If it had shown that something was sharply 
amiss from the basic thrust of the evidence in the record, then I 
think it would have been the judgment of the Commission that we 
would have stopped, reopened the proceeding, taken another year, 
or 2, or 3 again. But it was our judgment that there was nothing in 
the baseline study which essentially changed our judgment as to 
the thrust of the evidence in the record, and it was our judgment, 
and it has been the judgment of every Commissioner until Commis
sioner Miller came to the agency that the evidence sustained the 
basic rule. 

On the other hand, his statement of the differences is quite fair. 
I think one very important point he makes is that much of his dif
ference has to do with the level of evidence and the nature and 
quality of the record. I think it was our judgment that the record is 
amply sufficient to sustain court support for the rule. The ques
tions which Congress faces in addressing the rule, I think, are 
l'eally different, and there, I think Congress is more free to look at 
the provisions of the rule to determine whether, as they are limit
ed, and all of the provisions that the Small Business Committee 
looked at, such as the rule that said you could not have odd-colored 
caskets in order to deflect people from bizarre, lower priced colored 
caskets, to higher priced caskets-those are all gone. The rule is 
basically stripped down, and the basic purpose is to give the family 
arranging the funeral some more choice. 

If I may finally, Mr. Chairman, I do have a copy of the statement 
by Senator Kasten released yesterday, in which he analyzes the 
rule and expresses his support for the rule, which I ask that you 
may want to include in the record. 

Chairman HEINZ. It has already been noted and it is available to 
all members of the committee. 

Senator COHEN. As I recall, one of the original rules had a rec
ommendation that each individual funeral director must put on 
notice to the person coming in that they should go and check with 
a competitor before buying. Is that out, too? 

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. I had never seen it, so it dropped out 
even before I got to the Commission, Senator. 

Senator COHEN. Commissioner Clanton. 
Commissioner CLANTON. Senator Cohen, I wanted to just add an 

additional response. The major reason why we did not reopen the 
record on that point is set forth in the Federal Register, actually, 
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at page 42268-this is the Federal Register notice that we submit
ted when we promulgated the rule on September 24, 1982. 

Senator COHEN. That is one of the things that does not cross my 
desk every morning. 

Commissioner CLANTON. I appreciate that fact. I must say that
well, I will not comment on the problem of reading the Federal 
Register; it is difficult-but simply for the purpose of citing the 
record on that page, and some footnotes. 

But by and large, the reason we did not was that the baseline 
study to which Commissioner Pertschuk referred was an effort to 
give us a sense of what the world was before we promulgated the 
rule. We could then follow up to see what improvements had been 
made after the fact-once that rule had been in place. Essentially, 
it does not contradict the reason or need for the rule. The major 
issue that a:t:'ose related to the question of disclosing information 
over the telephone. There is a provision in the rule that would re
quire, if consumers request price information, for funeral directors 
to provide it over the phone. There was evidence in that baseline 
study to suggest that a considerable number of funeral directors al
ready provided information over the phone. The suggestion was 
made that perhaps that undercut the need for having a separate 
requirement in the rule on that particular point. And we recog
nized that over the intervening 8 or 9 years since we initiated the 
rulemaking other States may have taken some action, resulting in 
some improvement. Nevertheless, we felt that information did not 
negate the fact or the need for putting that proposal in place as an 
affirmative obligation to make sure that that practice is continued. 

In fact, I think the telephone disclosure provision is the most spe
cific area of the rule where there was really information to suggest 
that the underlying premise might be somewhat different, or the 
practice of the industry might be somewhat different, than we 
thought was the case in proposing the rule. 

But I would point out that even on the question of telephone 
price disclosure, we had cO:'lsiderable information in the record, in
cluding information from industry people, that suggested that pro
viding telephone price data was not feasible, or very helpful. Fu
neral industry representatives argued that customers would still 
have to come in and get much more specific information and that 
price information generally was not provided over the phone. 

N ow, the reason for that particular conflid and the fact that the 
study suggested that it was done more frequently is hard to say. 
But I think it certainly did not undercut the need for putting a 
limited but reasonable provision in the rule. Indeed, our action was 
consistent with the premise that it was feasible to do so and that a 
rule provision would not have any adverse effect on the industry. I 
cite that just to underscore one of the principal conflicting pieces of 
information in that underlying baseline study and why we decided 
to go ahead with the rule. And, as I indicated, it is explained in 
some detail in the Federal Register notice. 
. C~airman MILL~R. Mr. qh~irman, as Senator Kasten points out 
In hIS statement, In a way It IS fortunate that that issue of the evi
dentiary record will be resolved by the courts, so we will have a 
chance to hear those contentions. 

Senator COHEN. Thank you very much. 
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Chairman HEINZ. Senator Cohen, thank you very much. 
I have a number of questions. I am not going to ask them all, 

because I know you do have another meeting, but I do have one or 
two I do want to pursue. One that you can answer for the reco!d, 
though, has to do with pac~makers and ~acemak~r fraud, whIch 
has been a subject of great Inte!e~t to thIS commIt~ee. Last year, 
we determined that of the $2 bIllIon spent by medIcare for pace
makers, pacemaker warranties, doctors, and hospital bills, as much 
as $1 billion of the $2 billion is money that should not and need not 
have been spent. . 

Now in 1978 the Federal Trade Commission initiated a reVIew 
of pac~maker' ~arranties. Our investigation that I mentioned. a 
moment ago, indicated that this effort of .yours w~ concluded In 
1980 with a recommendation that certaIn allegatIOns be trans
ferr~d to the Justice Department for prosecution. 

We heard from the Justice Department that they had not re
ceived any such referrals. Would you please provide for the .record 
an explanation of the FTC activities in this area, and specIfically 
whether or not the referrals were made, and if so, to whom, and if 
not, why not? . ' 

It looks like, Commissioner Pertschuk, you WIll have a lIttle res-
urrection of history to perform. 

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. We will do what we can, Mr. Chair-
man.I 

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much. 
Now Chairman Miller, we understand that the 9.gency, the FrC, 

has ad investigation of the nursing home industry underway and 
you have had it underway for some time, as I recollect. When. do 
you expect that to come to some kind of conclusion, and what kind 
of results might we expect? 

Chairman MILLER. That investigation is housed at the Seattle re-
gional office and has recently been transferred to. headquarters ~or 
more intensive work. I would be reluctant to give you a P!eCISe 
date as to when that will be concluded. It is a very complIcated 
matter. There are many ramifica:ions and facets of that matter. 

I am reluctant to predict, but it is currently pending, and I would 
imagine we would be getting more information on that matter 
within a matter of months. 

Chairman HEINZ. Of months? 
Chairman MILLER. Yes. 
Chairman HEINZ. Very well. Commissioner Clanton. . 
Commissioner CLANTON. Mr. Chairman, could I add a pOInt on 

that that goes back even before C~airm~ ~iller came onboard. As 
you indicated, we have had that Invesbgatwn underway for some 
time. I do think, however, that even though we hav~ !lot. brought 
any specific cases or rules there has been some benefIcIal Impact. I 
refer to efforts as a resuit of our study and investigation, by our 
staff, to assist bther Governme~t agencies, spe~if.ically HHS, in ?e
vising some standards for nurSIng homes receIVIng ~eder~l ass~st
ance. Our staff had worked at some length at an earher pOInt WIth 
that Department in devising ~ules th.at addressed some o~ the con
sumer problems that people In nU!GIng homes were haVIng. That 

1 Material referred to not received at time of pUblication. 
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action obviously does not resolve all ?f the issues, but it do~~ reflect 
the fact that our involvement in thIS area had some posItIve and 
beneficial results in providing assistance to HHS with respect to its 
funding standards for nursing homes. 

Chairman MILLER. Mr. Chairman, I am corrected that the 
Bureau Director forwarded a study to the Commission on Decem
ber 23, and it is now with Commissioner Pertschuk. 

Chairman HEINZ. Commissioner Pertschuk, do you have any
thing to add to the status Qf the nursing home investigation, on 
anything that might proceed from that? . 

[Commissioner Pertschuk conferred ":lth hIS staff person.] 
Chairman HEINZ. I hope the same thIng has not happened to the 

nursing home investigation that has happened to the pacemaker 
investigation. I am sure that was not intentional, but--

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. There is some confusion as to the pre
cise status of the investigation. I will send a letter to the committ~e 
in a day, giving you the status and telling you what the status IS, 
Mr. Chairman. 

[Subsequent to the hearing, Commissioner Pertschuk submitted 
the following letter:] 
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FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 
WASHINGTON. D. C. 20580 

orrlCl nr Til; CO~MIS510N[R 

The Honorable John Heinz 
Chairman 
Special Committee on Aging 
united States Senate 
Washington, D.C. 20510 

Dear Chairman Heinz: 

March 1, 1983 

I wish to 91ariEy for the record the question of the status 
of the Commission's nursing home investigation which r.ame up at 
tcday's hearing. 

On December 28, 1982, as the Chairman indicated, Bureau 
Director Muris forwarded to the Commission the staff's final 
recommendations in the nursing home investigation. The matter. 
was assigned to my office to be circulated for consideration to 
the Commission. Following a review which he had initiated eleven 
months before, in February 1982, Mr. Muris, along with the 
Division of Service Industry practices, overruled the earlier 
recommendations of the nursing home staff in the FTC's Seattle 
office and recommended that the entire investigation be closed 
without Commission action. Upon learning of the Bureau's closing 
recommendation and the assignment of the matter to my office, Liz 
Taylor, the staff member in Seattle who had prepared the earlier 
report, informed me by memo of January 17, 1983 that she believed 
further information might facilitate my review, and therefore 
requested an opportunity to submit a responsive memorandum before 
any action was taken. My office informed both Ms. Taylor and Mr. 
Muris' office that her request would be granted. On February 18, 
1983, less than two weeks ago, Ms. Taylor's memorandum was 
transmitted to my office via Bureau Director Muris. 

There the matter stands. I am presently giving the closest 
review to Mr. Muris' closing recommendation, as well as to the 
Seattle staff's dissenting views, and intend to schedule this 
matter for formal Commission consideration in the very near 
future. 

I hope that this letter corrects any misimpression left by 
today's testimony that this highly important matter has been 
unduly delayed in my office. The simple truth is that additional 
time was allowed, without objection from Mr. Muris or anyone 
else, for Ms. Taylor to exercise fully her right of dissent by 
responding to Mr. Muris' critique of the investigation and his 
closing recommendation. 

If I can be of further help to you and the Committee, please 
do not hesitate to call upon me. 

Sincerely, 

""~f~ 
Michael Pertschuk 
Commissioner 

19-930 0 - 83 - 4 
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Chairman HEINZ. Commissioner Pertschuk, I believe in your 
statement, you stated that the hearing aid rule had, in your judg
ment, been allowed to languish? 

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. Yes, sir. 
Chairman HEINZ. Why has that occurred, in your judgment? 
Commissioner PERTSCHUK. Well, I think there are probably two 

reasons. First, in general, the first order of business for the new 
leadership of the Commission when it came to the Commission 
after the election was to impose their new standards of evaluating 
Commission activities, to have a heavy emphasis on economic anal
ysis and a reorientation of priorities to areas such as intervention 
in other agencies for deregulation. 

There were pending at the Commission substantial numbers of 
rules, and they are hard to deal with. They involve voluminous 
records. And it takes an enormous concentration of staff energy to 
put the rules into shape to be sent forward. We have had one or 
two of the rules which were pending come before the Commission 
with recommendations for closing, and the hearing aid rule has 
suffered from the allocation of resources. 

The Commission, of course, is down in its overall resources, by 
one count by 35 percent, and so I think at least part of that is a 
result of the overall diminution of resources and the lower prior
ities set for rules such as the hearing aid rule, and I think that is 
the basic explanation, Mr. Chairman. 

Chairman MILLER. Mr. Chairman, could I respond to that by 
-pointing out first that, as Commissioner Pertschuk said, the hear
ing aid rule was sent back to staff in October 1979, fully a year 
before the election occurred, when Commissioner Pertschuk was 
Chairman of the Federal Trade Commission. There must have been 
some evidentiary problems at that point, some work that the Fed
eral Trade Commission staff needed to engage in, surely, for this 
whole year's time that it did not report it back to the Commission. 

I also have before me a copy of our regulatory agenda printed in 
the Federal Register. We anticipate having the specific recommen
dations of the Bureau before the Commission on the hearing aid 
rule within a matter of a few weeks. It is true that many of the 
rules we found in the pipeline were languishing because of lack of 
attention and because the evidence underlying the rule was dated, 
and insufficient. I think the Federal Trade Commission's eonsumer 
protection staff has done a monumental task in trying to put to
gether a sound evidentiary basis for the rules, so that when the 
Commission acts, if it acts positively on a rule, its action will be 
upheld in the courts. One thing that is awfully disturbing to me is 
to look at the court records of the Federal Trade Commission in 
recent years, to find how frequently the Commission was over
turned in the courts. If we are doing our job, we will be sustained 
in the courts. And I think again, it is deception on the American 
people for the Federal Trade Commission to move forward with 
rules or regUlations that will not be sustained by the courts. 

Chairman HEINZ. On that point, which was one of two you made 
regarding deception on the funeral home rule, maybe it will be of 
some help to you and members of the Commission to note that the 
study that we have done, which is very current, cites funerals 
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among the highest instances of complaints. It was among the top 
10 and we asked about 30 or 40 different areas. 

Chairman MILLER. Right. No question. 
Chairman HEINZ. That is not dated, that is not old. 
Chairman MILLER. No; you are absolutely right. No question but 

that industry is one deserving of serious attention by the Federal 
Trade Commission. The question is how best to address the prob
lem. 

Chairman HEINZ. One last question, and then I will recognize 
Senator Pryor, if he has an opening statement or any questions. 

Several of you have made reference in one way or another to the 
new standards of economic analysis. Now, some people who are not 
on the Commission, including myself, are really, frankly, unable to 
tell how worthwhile that is or whether it is a device for slowing 
things down that might be a little unpopular. 

Let me ask each of the members of the Commission in turn, if I 
may, how valid and valuable they think the new standards of eco
nomic analysis are. 

Chairman Miller, obviously, you support that. They came in with 
you. 

Chairman MILLER. Well, Mr. Chairman, actually, in fairness, I 
think what we have done is to improve the focus of the economic 
analysis that was already going on at the Federal Trade Commis
sion. Actually, in terms of the proportion of the Commission's re
sources, the economic analysis, the pure research, is down. We 
have increased dramatically the proportion of the Commission's 
economic resources going directly to law enforcement programs. 

I believe it is very important to have such analysis, because I 
think it results in, (a) bringing better cases, (b) bringing cases that 
really do help consumers and do help competition, and (c) bringing 
cases that will be sustained by the courts. 

So, going back to Commissioner Douglas' point, I think such eco
nomic analysis is essential, but I do not want you to get the idea 
that we have suddenly increased the resources. We have just done 
a better job of more efficiently meshing the needs of the Commis
sion to the resources that we have. 

The purpose is not to slow down things. The purpose is to make 
sure that the things that we do are done very well. And I think if 
you look at the output, especially in the consumer protection area, 
you will see how it has come up, how we have focused on the best 
cases. 

Chairman HEINZ. What is the average length of time in which 
the FTC is involved with an issue before coming forth with a rule? 

Chairman MILLER. There is a wide range. I would have to get the 
statistics. Obviously, a rulemaking can last 10 years. An individual 
fraud case could last a couple of weeks. 

Chairman HEINZ. Well, I am talking about rulemaking. 
Chairman MILLER. Well, we of course have had rulemaking au

thority only for a decade, but we will--
Chairman HEINZ. And you are going to get some rules made any 

year now, right? 
Chairman MILLER. Pardon? . 
Chairman HEINZ. You are going to get some rules made one of 

these days. 
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Chair~an MILLER. Well, we have promulgated a number of rules, 
Mr. ChaIrman, but we also have several rules in the pipeline right 
now that we will be acting upon. There are, as you know, several 
rules that we have promulgated. 

Chairman HEINZ. But on the average, a rulemaking will take 
several years? 

Chairman MILLER. Yes. 
Chairma~ HEINZ .. To what extent, irrespective of the validity of 

the economIC analYSIS, would you say that that slows a rulemaking 
down-. by a month, by several months, by years? 
C~alrman MILLER. Well, Mr. Chairman, I just find it almost im

possl?le to understand how the Commission could go through the 
requl!ements of th~ Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act rulemaking and 
meeting the requIrements of the Administrative Procedure Act 
withOl~t having economi~ input. S.o I cannot simply--
. ~halr~an HEINZ. ChaIrman .~lller, I am not tryiI?-g to take a po

sItion. WIth respect to the valIdity of that. I am sImply asking a 
questIOn of fact--
. Chairman MILLER. I simply cannot answer how much economics 
Input. slmys down a rul.emaking .. The basic point, Mr. Chairman, 
first, IS Wlthout economlC analysIs, I do not think the Commission 
could be sustained in the courts on a rule. So there has to be eco
nomi~ analysis to have a rule sustained. You could have a thought 
exper~~nt and say h~w quickly could we get a rule through, but 
t~e deClsIOn on how q~.l1ckly a rule goes through is one the Commis
SIOners make dependIng 0!1 how they think the evidence is being 
put together, the fine-tunmg of the staffs recommendations and 
that sort of thing. It is a time-consuming process, but it is very dif
ficul~ f?r me to have a thou~ht experiment to say how much eco
nomIC mput, anymore than how ~uch legal input; without which 
~ou. coul~ not have a rule sustaIned in the courts, affects the 
tImln~. I Just cannot see how you could separate it. 

ChaIrman HEINZ. Are there any other comments? 
Commissioner Bailey. 
Commissioner BAILEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I agree with the Chairman on the difficulty of trying to evaluate 

~he problems that may be caused by economic input in a rulemak
lng. The more rel~va~t factor, I t~ink, is the degree to which the 
proposed. r~lemaking IS controversIal at large and within the indus
try that It IS proposed to deal with. 

If it is contro~ersial, i~ is likely. to take a much longer time to get 
the a~ount of lnfor~atIOn, particularly information in the hands 
of the Industry, that IS necessary. And I just would illustrate-the 
?sed car rule. was 9 years finally getting finished. The funeral rule 
IS nearly a dIsgrace, ~he length of time that it has taken. But the 
~-value r?le, concernmg the effectiveness of insulation, where the 
Industry Itself was eager to have something that was understand
able by consumers, and therefore was in general, cooperative, did 
not take more than 1 % years to get a complete evidentiary record 
that we w.ere certain would be sustained by the courts. 
. So I thInk there are other factors that have a very significant 
lmpac~ on the amount of time that it takes to do these things 

Chairman HEINZ. Commissioner Pertschuk. . 

" 
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Commissioner PERTSCHUK. I was just going to reply briefly, Mr. 
Chairman. I think the rhetoric about the usefulness of an economic 
analysis is one that we probably all could share and make the 
same speeches-that is, that it is necessary, that of course, the 
Commission should use economists to make sure that what it is 
doing is of economic benefit, exceeding its cost. The problem is in 
the application. 

My criticism of much of what has gone on is that the economic 
analysis is applied, although in an apparently scientific way, with a 
strong ideological bias, against Government intervention in the 
marketplace for any reasons whatsoever. 

The fact is that both the Chairman and Commissioner Douglas 
have cited the use of economists in developing a means of attacking 
age discrimination in credit. That is a marvelous use of economists, 
and I applaud it. It is exceedingly rare. The fact of the matter is 
that 99 out of lOO.times, several layers of economists will essential
ly spend a lot of time and a lot of energy attacking the basic theory 
of staffs development of a case. 

Challenging it is healthy. I·'TI not saying that we should adopt a 
know-nothing approach. But lJ.l some cases where you have staff in
vestigating a per se violation of the law, a law that the courts have 
said is a de facto violation of the law, we have spent exceedingly 
great quantities of time and paper in asking whether that is of eco
nomic benefit. So we are not dealing with a fundamental question 
of whether the Commission should not apply economic analysis, 
but the way in which it is applied, the extent of energy and re
sources applied to challenging what have been fundamental und 
basic narts of the law. 

Chairman HEINZ. Senator Pryor. 

STATEMENT BY SENATOR DAVID PRYOR 

Senator PRYOR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I have a prepared statement I would like to have inserted in the 

record. 
Chairman HEINZ. Without objection, so ordered. 1 

Senator PRYOR. I would like to just make one or two comments, 
and not necessarily related to the Federal Trade Commission. But 
Mr. Chairman, the survey that you authorized-I think the find
ings are very, very interesting. There are two general findings--one 
is that consumer fraud is increasing, and I think that those figures 
are pretty astronomical-12 percent yearly increases in frauds
and entangled directly with that is that the elderly are those who 
are most frequently victimized or abused. I would not even say that 
the elderly today are walking targets-they are more like "sitting 
targets" in many instances, and totally vulnerable to many of 
these frauds. 

Last year, Chairman Heinz, myself, and other Members of the 
Senate, along with Congressman Pepper attempted to adopt a 
postal fraud bill which would have gotten at some of these frauds. 
Unfortunately, through some final hangup in the lame-duck ses-

1 See next page. 
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sian, it got caught, and we could not bring it to a final vote. We 
hope to once again work for enactment of that piece of legislation. 

I think the survey results, Mr. Chairman, are very revealing and 
certainly, let us say, accentuate the need for congressional action 
that would f~rther protect the elderly. And I want to compliment 
you, ¥r. ChaIrman, for your work and for calling this hearing this 
mornIng. 

I will have further questions, I think, for the Postal people and I 
thank the very distinguished members of the Federal Trad~ Com
mission for their appearance. 

Chairman HEINZ. Chairman Miller and members of the Commis
sion, thank you very much. We appreciate your accommodating the 
com:r:nitt~e and appearing. You have been very helpful, and we ap
precIate It. 

Chairman MILLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
[The prepared statement of Senator Pryor follow,,:] 

-PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR DAVID PRYOR 

Mr. Chairman, I want to take this opportunity to commend you for scheduling 
this hearing on methods to combat frauds against the elderly. I cannot stress 
enough the importance of educating the public about these schemes, and about ways 
to avoid being taken by the con artists who perpetrate them. 

For many years now we have known of the financial, physical, and sometimes 
psychological devastation which can result from such trickery. Unfortunately, the 
prevalence of these schemes is growing each year (some estimate an increase of 12 
~ercent annually) and consumer fraud has become almost epidemic in its propor
tions. The ~ost!ll Inspection. Service est~ates that billions are lost yearly to 
schemes whICh Involve anythIng from medIcal-related fraud, to phony investment 
proposals, to funeral fraud. 'r~e Arthritis Foundation estimates that over $1 billion 
l~ lo~t yearly to phony arthrItis cures alone. One of the saddest aspects of this situa
tion IS that over 60 percent of the victims of these frauds are senior citizens. 

My interf'st in the area of consumer fraud, and particularly frauds which are per
p~t~ated. through. the mails, was' heightened when Congressman Pepper, then the 
distIngUIshed chaIrman of the House Select Committee on Aging shared with me 
the results of ongoing investigations by his staff. The staff uncove~ed numerous ex
amples of consumer frauds ~hich were taking place in every State in the Union. 

In re~ponse to these findIngs, Chairman Pepper introduced legislation which 
~ould give the Postal Inspection Service (the investigative arm of the Postal Serv
I~e) ~etter enforcement tools to pursue these con artists. I introduced that legisla
tion In th~ SeI?-ate, along with many of my colleagues on this committee. 

The legislatIOn successfully made it through the Senate and was amended in the 
House of Representatives last year. Unfortunately, there was not time to consider 
th~ amended. versi~m i~ the Sena~e before the end of the session. On February 3 of 
this year, thIS legislatIOn was reIntroduced as S. 450, and tomorrow I will testify 
before the Senate Governmental Affairs Committee on this bill. 

S. 4?0 would consider!lb~y increase the effectiveness of the Chief Postal Inspector, 
an? I I!ltend to do all wIthIn I!1y power to see that swift action is taken on this legis
latIOn. In the ~enate. Mr; ChaIrman, I wo~ld like to thank you and the able staff of 
t!te Senate Aging CommIttee for ~our ~slstanc~ in the las~ Congress on this legisla
tion, and I look forward to. working With you m the comIng months on this issue. 

I do want to ~tress that, In addition to legislatcive remedies in this area, it is also 
of the utmost Importance that we educate the public on the prevalence of these 
fraud~lent schemes, and on how to avoid being victims of them. The staff of this 
commIttee has done a great service for the consumers of this Nation by conducting 
t~e survey- of co?sumer problem~. and economic fraud, and I hope that the results 
Will be WI?ely. circula~d a?d u~lh~ed by consumer educa.tion groups. I am certain 
that to?ay s WItnesses storIes wIll Illustrate the need to dIsseminate this type of in
formatIOn, and I look forward to their testimony. 

Cl?-airman HEINZ. While our panel from the U.S. Postal Service is 
commg forward, I would just like to observe that. the committee's 
recent survey has determined that many of the frauds perpetrated 
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against the ~lderly are carried out through the mails. It is for that 
reason that I welcome Charles P. Nelson of the U.S. Postal Service, 
Criminal Investigations Division. Mr. Nelson is accompanied by 
George C. Davis, Assistant General Counsel, and Wayne Kidd, 
Manager of the Fraud Branch. ' 

We will hear Mr. Nelson's statement and then ask questions as 
needed. 

Mr. Nelson. 

STATEMENT OF CHARLES P. NELSON, WASHINGTON, D.C., ASSIST
ANT CHIEF POSTAL INSPECTOR, U.S. POSTAL SERVICE; ACCOM
P ANIED BY GEORGE C. DAVIS, ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL; 
AND WAYNE KIDD, MANAGER, FRAUD BRANCH 

Mr. NELSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Weare here today at your invitation to discuss the problems of 

mail fraud and its impact on the Nation's elderly. Mail fraud is not 
a new problem. It has undoubtedly been practiced since the intro
duction of the first public postal system. However, public concern 
for this form of fraud has increased with the emergence of today's 
multibillion-dollar-a-year mail-order industry. The growth of this 
industry has been accompanied by an increase in the number and 
sophistication of deceptive mail-order promotions. While the vast 
majority of mail-order businesses are legitimate, a small minority 
continues to threaten the integrity and reputation of the entire in
dustry, as well as the public's confidence in the sanctity of the 
mails. 

The specter of mail fraud is particularly vivid for our Nation's 26 
million older Americans. Unfort.unately, many fraudulent schemes 
tend to prey most heavily on the elderly, who, because of fixed in
comes or limited mobility, often rely on the convenience of mail
order shopping. Because of the nature of the schemes involved in 
our cases, we believe that a high percentage of mail fraud and mis
representation victims are senior citizens. 

Over a century ago, Congress desire to protect the public from 
marketing schemes conducted by mail led to the enactment of the 
criminal mail fraud statute, 18 U.S. Code, section 1341, and the ad
ministrative false representation statute, 39 U.S. Code, section 
3005. The Postal Service uses the provisions of these two statutes
the Nation's first consumer protection statutes-to combat mail 
fraud. 

The criminal statute provides for fines and imprisonment for in
tentionally using the mails in furtherance of a fraudulent scheme. 
It is a powerful deterrent. But during the time that the mail fraud 
is being investigated and prosecuted, the scheme may continue to 
operate and victimize the public. 

The administrative statute offers an opportunity to protect the 
public from becoming victims of schemes to obtain money or prop
erty through the mail throughfalserepresen.tations.This sta~ute 
has a very simple mandate-that persons sellIng goods or servIces 
by mail refrain from the use of advertising which will mislead pro
spective purchasers in any material respect. Its principal sanction 
is an administrative mail stop order issued pursuant to procedures 
under the Administrative Procedure Act. The order is designed to 
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prevent the consumer's money from reaching the operator of the 
scheme by requiring its return to the sender. 

A formal complaint is filed with the Postal Service's judicial offi
cer. A copy of the complaint, a notice of hearing, and our rules ?f 
practice are served upon the promoter, called the respon~e~t In 
our cases. The complaint is assigned to an independent admInIstra
tive law judge, who presides impartially over the proceedings. He 
or she conducts a formal evidentiary hearing where the respondent 
may be represented by counsel, present testimony, and cross-exam
ine our witnesses. The administrative law judge renders an initial 
decision which recommends, or not, the issuance of a mail stop 
order. The entire record, including a transcript of the hearing, is 
reviewed by the judicial officer. If he concludes that the Postal 
Service has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that the 
statute is being violated, he will then issue a mail stop order. 

The statute's underlying expectation is that if the operator is 
prevented from receiving his profits, he must either reform his pro
motion to avoid misrepresentations or cease marketing his product 
by mail. Unfortunately, this expectation is not always realized, due 
to existing loopholes in the statute. Since the Postal Service must 
first obtain an advertised product before filing an administrative 
complaint, many operators postpone the mailing of their products 
until they have received most expected orders. 

In our experience, delays in receiving the sample product in 
excess of 1 month are by no means uncommon. Even after a valid 
mail stop order is issued, a promoter can continue to operate 
simply by changing the name or address of his business. In this 
case, a new mail stop order must be sought. 

During fiscal years 1977 through 1982, the Postal Service filed 
approximately 1,309 false representation complaints. This resulted 
in the issuance of 542 mail stop orders and the signing of 650 con-
sent agreements. . 

I would like to highlight a few examples of recent schemes in 
which many of the victims were elderly citizens. 

Exhibit 1 is Braswell, Inc., Atlanta, Ga. and Fort Lauderdale, 
Fla. Between July 1980 and September 1982, 138 false representa
tion complaints were filed involving 50 different products marketed 
by Braswell, Inc. Thirty-two false representation orders were 
issued, and 15 consent agreements were signed by Braswell. Among 
the products sold by this promoter were alleged anti aging pn3para
tions and baldness cures. According to the evidence in one of the 
cases, the promoter sold over $2 million worth of valueless baldness 
cures during the first 6 months of 1980. 

[Exhibits referred to appear at end of Mr. Nelson's statement, 
pages 35 to 41.] 

Exhibit 2 is the Phillips Envelope Co., Salinas, Calif. Between 
July 1978 and July 1981, 17 envelope stuffing promotions were the 
subjects of false representation complaints filed against this pro
moter. The promoter used nine different trade styles at 17 address
es during this time period. False representation orders were issued 
against these schemes. In 1982, the promoter was found guilty of 
mail fraud; 43,000 victims of the scheme, many of them elderly per
sons, collectively suffered an estimated $500,000 loss. 

I , 
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Exhibit 3 concerns the Herbal Education Center in Vermont. The 
promoter of this scheme mailed over 800,000 catalogs, advertising 
cures for cancer, arthritis, varicose veins, and other serious ill
nesses. More than 30,000 persons responded to the mailings and 
collectively invested an estimated $150,000. In June 1981, a false 
representation action was filed against this promotion which re
sulted in a consent agreement. In February 1982, the promoter of 
the Herbal Education Center was sentenced to 5 years probation 
and fined $6,000. 

Exhibit 4 concerns investments and took place in Boston, Mass. 
Over a 9-year period, a Boston attorney swindled 100 of his elderly 
clients by convincing them to invest in a variety of promotions 
with promises of 15 to 20 percent annual interest and a full return 
of their principal in 1 to 3 years. He gained the confidence of many 
of his victims as a result of his position as president of a religious 
organization. In many instances, he knew the financial status of 
his victims because he had prepared their wills for them. As soon 
as they received an insurance settlement upon the death of a 
spouse, he would induce them to invest money with him. Most of 
the money received was invested in his name or in the names of 
members of his family. To prevent his clients from knowing what 
actually happened to their money and enable him to continue his 
swindle, the attorney sent them some interest payments. The attor
ney received a I-year prison sentence. 

Exhibit 5 involves Potency Plus, a scheme that was run out of 
Memphis, Tenn. The promoter sent direct mail advertisements to 
thousands of senior citizens nationwide, offering the "Miracle of 
the Eighties," a product which allegedly would stop the process of 
aging and increase the lifespan of the user. It was to be used by 
those suffering from arthritis, bad eyesight and hearing, gallstones, 
high blood pressure, gout, ulcers, blood clots, constipation, heart 
disease, stroke, and all the other -maladies of aging. For $20, vic
tims received a 60-day supply of pills consisting of vitamins C and 
E and a so-called miracle ingredient, "Panax." Medical experts re
futed these claims, but 7,000 persons purchased this cure-all prod
uct before the promotion was stopped by a false representation 
order. 

Exhibit 6 is the Worm Growers' Exchange of Smyrna, Tenn. 
Through ads in numerous newspapers throughout the United 
States and Canada, the promoter solicited individuals on retire
ment or fixed income to raise earthworms in their backyards. Vic
tims were told the National Worm Growers' Exchange was ready 
to buy back all worms at a large profit to the grower. 

For an initial investment of $2,500, victims received 30 pounds of 
worms, some newsletters acclaiming the many successes of worm 
farms, and an earthworm cake recipe-that is all they received. 
Over 2,000 victims lost $3.5 million to this fraud. The five individ
uals responsible for this scheme were sentenced in 1980, to 3 years 
in prison with probation ranging from 3 to 5 years. 

Exhibit 7 concerns Great Life Laboratories of New Jersey. The 
promoter advertised two products: One, an "amazing skin formula 
that would- allegedly-lift aging skin right off your face in just 7 
seconds." The price was only $12.50 for this jealously guarded and 
treasured beauty secret known throughout Europe and America. 
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The doctor who refuted these advertising claims stated: HWashing 
with soap and water would accomplish the same results as using 
this product." 

The second product, based upon an alleged significant break
through in the fight against aging, consisted of RNA tablets and a 
Hno aging diet." None of the operator's claims were medically 
sound, and the promotions were stopped by the issuance of a false 
representation order. 

That is the last exhibit we have. I would like to just mention a 
few insurance-type schemes that involve the elderly. Approximate
ly 100 elderly women were defrauded through the sale of a worth
less health insurance plan. Some victims were paying between 
$6,000 and $9,000 per year in premiums. One 93-year-old lady was 
sold maternity insurance. The promoters were fined $25,000 and 
sentenced to serve 18 months to 4 years in Federal prison. 

In another case, approximately 100 elderly citizens were collec
tively swindled out of $100,000 by an agent through the sale of in
surance which allegedly supplemented existing medicare coverage. 
The agent was found guilty of mail fraud and sentenced to a 4-year 
prison term. 

In conclusion, I would suggest that increased public awareness 
and caution are essential to a meaningful reduction in the ability 
of unscrupulous promoters to deceptively market their products by 
mail. I would like to thank the committee for its efforts to bring 
this problem to the public's attention and hope that your efforts 
will certainly serve to heighten public awareness. 

~~----~ 
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Exhibit 1 

BRASWELL, INC., ATLANTA, GAl 
FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 

TIME FRAME (JULY 1980 - SEPTEMBER 1982) 

FALSE REPRESENTATION COMPLAINTS 138 

NUMBER OF PRODUCTS INVOLVED 50 

FALSE REPRESENTATION ORDERS 32 

CONSENT j\GREEMENTS 15 

PRODUCT PRICE RANGE 
$10.00 TO $45.00 
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Exhibit 2 

PHILLIPS 
WORK-AT -HOME 

ENVELOPE STUFFING SCHEME 
TIME FRAME (JULY 1978 THRU JULY 1981) 

TRADE STYLES 
ADDRESSES . 

9 

17 
CIVIL COMPLAINTS FILED 17 
FALSE REPRESENTATION ORDERS17 

CRIMINAL ACTION 

INDICTED 2-17-82 
CONVICTED 4-19-82 
SENTENCED 6-17-82 

"'¥ri 

VICTIMS 43,000 
E5TIMATED lOSS $500,000 
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Chairman HEINZ. Mr. Nelson, thank you very much. Those were 
absolutely fascinating examples of how an apparently very large 
number of unscrupulous people prey on our elderly. 
. I gather f~om th~ first example, Braswell, that this company 

tIme and agaIn gets In trouble with you. You mentioned there were 
138 complaints, there were 50 products, there were 32 false repre
sentation orders, there were 15 consent agreements. Now, tell us
a false representation order is something issued by you; is that cor
rect? 

Mr. NELSON. A false representation order is issued by the judicial 
officer, not the Inspection Service. 

Chairman HEINZ. By the judicial officer. And then, the consent 
agreements would also be judicial agreements, would they? 

Mr. NELSON. They are judicial agreements. They are agreements 
entered into between the operator of the scheme and the USPS. 

Chairman HEINZ. So we have literally dozens of instances where 
this particular company has gotten in trouble with the law? 

Mr. NE~ON. Yes, that is right. 
Chairmatl HEINZ. Now, as you are no doubt aware, Senator Pryor 

and I, and; others, have a bill, S. 450, that is designed to give the 
Postal Serfilice some additional power to deal particularly with the 
kinds of r\~cidivist behavior that this exemplifies. 

Are you familiar with our bill? 
Mr. Nl!.!LSON. Yes, I am. 
Chairman HEINZ. Do you believe that it would be beneficial to 

the Postal Service in your efforts to combat consumer fraud? 
Mr. NELSON. Yes, I believe it certainly would be, especially in 

two areas. You mentioned recidivism. At this point, as I testified 
earlier, an operator merely has to change his address or the name 
of his company, and he starts again. We would then go through the 
same procedure of ordering the material by mail and the judicial 
pr()ceedings at Postal Service headquarters. 

The provision in the bill, if they start the same scheme again, 
allows for the Federal district court to fine them up to $10,000 per 
day. I think that is going to be a tremendous help. 

Another portion of the bill that should be very helpful is our 
ability to go right to the firm and say, tlHere is the cash. We would 
like the product or the se-vice that you are offering." At this time, 
we order all of these products by mail. And again, as I mentioned 
earlier, many of these promoters will wait up to a month and some 
of them longer, before they send any orders, if they send them at 
all. 

Chairman HEINZ. I think that is a point well worth making. 
Right now, you cannot go to the doorstep of the person who is per
petrating some type of mail fraud scheme, and you cannot demand 
and get a product. You are prevented from doing that by law; is 
that not correct? 

Mr. NELSON. No, we are not prevented from doing it by law. 
Chairman HEINZ. What prevents you from doing anything? 
Mr. NELSON. George, do you want to take that? 
Mr. DAVIS. As a practical matter, we could go to the door, and we 

could be thrown out. There is no sanction in the statute that re
quires anyone to honor a request to sell the product. 
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Chairman HEINZ. I misspoke myself. You cannot require that a 
sample of that product be delivered to you on payment of the pur
chase price . 

Mr. DAVIS. That is correct, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman HEINZ. And as a result, as you point out, months may 

go by-indeed, a lot of these con artists will deliberately delay 
sending the product, so that they minimize the chances of sending 
something to a law enforcement official like yourselves. Then after 
finally mailing the product, if they ever do, they can change their 
address, or just plain scram; is that correct, Mr. Nelson'? 

Mr. NELSON. Yes, that is true. 
Chairman HEINZ. And our bill will give you the authority to re

quire, upon the presentation of the purchase price, the delivery of 
such produci~ on demand; is that not correct? 

Mr. NELSON. Yes, it will. 
Chairman HEINZ. So in sum, you think that S. 450 and the au

thority in it, will give you the opportunity to do a far better job of 
protecting the public from the kinds of ridiculous and clearly, very 
dangerous schemes that we have seen? 

Mr. NELSON. We feel S. 450 will be very beneficial if it is enacted. 
Chairman HEINZ. Now, in the survey that the committee made of 

law enforcement and consumer protection agencies around the 
United States, we learned that of all the frauds that have an 
impact, medical frauds have the largest impact on the elderly. 
Other people have said, by the way, that these medical frauds, 
these products that are claimed to be helpful, grow hair, retard 
aging, and generally, do things that have to do with the fountain of 
youth, are essentially harmless, and that the Post Office should not 
be concerned with controlling these harmless gimmicks that may 
cost a few dollars. 

In your experience, quite apart from the fraudulent representa
tions involved, is there any harm associated with these remedies, 
and if so, what? Are they as harmless as some people claim? 

Mr. DAVIS. I think in some of our cases-unfortunately it has 
been a low percentage of them-the product that is being sold is 
directly harmful to the user. I remember in particular a product 
we had some 5 or 6 years ago that was designed to remove facial 
blemishes, but in fact, contained an acid. If it were to be used near 
the eyes-and there was no warning of this on the product label
it would blind the user. But indirectly, many of these tlsnake oil" 
remedies that we see have the harm of misleading the buyer into 
believing that he or she is using a valid medical treatment to ad
dress a potentially serious problem, when in fact, that is not the 
case. They will be taking some worthless swampwater cure for ar
thritis, when they should be receiving competent medical help that 
might do something to alleviate or prevent the increase in damage 
of the disease. 

I think also, the disappointment of the users should be noted. 
There has got to be a great deal of disappointment in anyone who 
falls for one of these things; first, because they feel that someone 
has made a sap of them, and moreover, they may feel that the 
system is working against them, that this sort of thing should not 
happen to them. It has got to be very disappointing, I think. 

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much. 
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There is a vote on. Senator Melcher and Senator Pryor have 
gone and will return, shortly. I am going to simply turn over the 
gavel, while I go and vote, to Senator Pryor upon his return, but I 
will have to leave now. So Senator Pryor will chair the hearing 
when I return, following our "early bird" rule. 

So thank you for being here. Just because I am leaving does not 
mean you should leave. 

Thank you. 
[Short recess.] 
Senator PRYOR [presiding]. Mr. Nelson, I believe you have all of 

your group here. I will chair the meeting momentarily until Chair
man Heinz returns, and we will continue. 

r have two or three questions that I would like to pose. First, can 
you give us any estimate of the amount that is lost yearly to fraud
ulent schemes that are perpetrated through the mails? You may 
have had that in your original statement, but I do not know that I 
caught it. 

Mr. NELSON. No, I did not have that, and it is very difficult to 
give that estimate. I could not really give you a figure and have 
confidence in it, because there is so much that is not reported to 
us. 

Senator PRYOR. I understand. 
What efforts at this time does the Postal Inspection Service 

make to educate the consumer in America about these fraudulent 
activities? (/.~ 

Mr. NELSON. We have for a number 'of years had a consumer pro
tection organization within the Inspection Service that speaks to 
various groups throughout the country. They make all kinds of TV 
and radio appearances. They will talk to senior citizens' groups. We 
have a consumer protection portion of that program that tries to 
assist in resolving mail-order-type complaints where it appears to 
us to be a poor business practice as opposed to an intent to defraud. 

Senator PRYOR. What ways would you recommend to the consum
ers, and certainly, the elderly, to verify that an offer is either on 
the level or one that is somewhat shady in nature? 

Mr. N EIPON. Well, there are several things a person can do. You 
can certainly talk to a friend or your attorney. You can contact 
Better Business Bureaus or chambers of commerce, in an effort to, 
as you say, validate the authenticity of the firm you are thinking 
of dealing with. 

Senator PRYOR. I assume that the Office of the Attorney General 
in most States has a consumer protection unit or a fraud protection 
unit. 

Mr. NELSON. Yes, I think that is true. 
Senator PRYOR. What about the individual who has been 

"taken"-what should he or she do to minimize the losses, and how 
do they minimize their losses? 

Mr. NELSON. Generally, in our investigations, I think, once you 
are "taken" that one time, I am not sure that you can do anything 
to minimize that loss. Usually, in the cases we are talking about, it 
is a one-time affair. 

Senator PRYOR. So, the horse is out of the barn, and there is not 
much that can be done at that point. 
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'Mr. NELSON. That is right. And it seldom occurs in our court pro
ceedings that the offenders have any money left or any assets left 
to make restitution. 

Senator PRYOR. To what degree do local consumer groups get in
volved in educating the public about mail fraud schemes? 

Mr. NELSON. They are quite active. We work with many of them 
throughout the country, and try to dovetail with their local pro
grams. It has been our opinion that they are quite active in con
sumer protection. 

Senator PRYOR. I think from recent testimony, as I recall, I be
lieve possibly before Senator Pepper some year or so ago, you or 
your people testified that it is hard to blacklist, if you want to use 
that term, some of the fraudulent companies because they are con
stantly changing their names from week to week or month to 
month. Is that still a practice that you are finding? 

Mr. NELSON. Yes, that is still a practice. It is a practice that 
hopefully this legislation will help address. 

Senator PRYOR. Where do you find that your hands are tied, in 
trying to not only educate, but also to enforce the law against some 
of the fraudulent activities? 

Mr. NELSON. I do not think we find our hands tied in our efforts 
to educate. In enforcement, there are basically two areas that 
cause us a lot of problems. One, is that we order all these products 
or services offered by mail, and most operators who are dishonest 
or who are pulling a scheme wait until they receive the majority of 
their orders before they ship anything, assuming they ship any
thing. Of course, we have to get the product and have it tested 
before we can go through the administrative proceedings. It is of
tentimes a month or more before we will receive a product, and 
during that 4 or 5 weeks, the consumer is still being cheated. And 
it would certainly help us to be able to go to that firm with the 
authority to purchase the product in cash at the time it comes to 
our attention. 

The other area is recidivism. You just mentioned changing the 
name or the address of the firm. Under the current procedure, that 
is all they have to do to start again. And then we, of course, go 
through the investigative procedure again to arrive at another mail 
stop order. 

Senator PRYOR. Is there any real coordination between other 
groups with the Postal Inspection Service? For example, what c~
ordination between FTC or consumer groups, or the Better BUSI
ness Bureau or State Attorneys General, et cetera, do you have? 

Mr. NELSON. We have, of course, liaison with all the Federal 
agencies and the inspectors in the field work with State agencies. 
Another effort is, of course, periodically, we publish lists of all 
firms that we have obtained civil misrepresentation orders on, as 
well as criminal convictions. And we work with them in such ef
forts as the upcoming Consumer Protection Week. 

That pretty much covers it, I think. 
Senator PRYOR. To your knowledge, are the consumer groups or 

Federal or State agencies experiencing financial cutbacks or budg
etary cutbacks which hamper the effectiveness in combating this 
fraud? 
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Mr. NELSON. I have no direct knowledge of that, but I have cer
tainly heard that. 

Senator PRYOR. In October 1981, I held a hearing in Little Rock, 
Ark., on S. 1407, the Postal Fraud Bill, and at that hearing a news
paper publisher named J. E. Dunlap from Harrison, Ark., who is 
the publisher of the Harrison Daily Times, testified that he reviews 
each classified ad himself and simply refuses to run a questionable 
ad. I think he has done this for 27 years, and in addition, I think 
many smaller newspapers in our State make it a real point to 
check with one another about those ads so as to avoid running 
them. I wonder if this is typical of a grassroots effort, or is this an 
exception to the rule? 

Mr. NELSON. I think based on my experience, I would have to say 
that is an exception to the rule. 

Senator PRYOR. You do not think that Katherine Graham of the 
Washington Post is down there, reading classified ads to make sure 
they are not fraudulent. 

Mr. NELSON. No. 
Senator PRYOR. Well, they are different situations, and I under

stand, but it seems like that serves as a fairly good system in some 
of our less-populated areas. 

One final question, and then I understand Senator Melcher has 
questions. It is my understanding that in later testimony to come, 
the committee will hear of con men who set up schools for cons, 
where they teach the tricks of their trade to prospective cons. To 
your knowledge is this pretty widespread? Is this the rule or the 
exception? 

Mr. NELSON. I would think that is the exception. 
Senator PRYOR. What about, is there what you might call ~ "c?n 

network" who share information in this whole field and prOVIde In
formation to each other to assist in these fraudulent schemes? 

Mr. NELSON. I have a feeling that there is, but I cannot s~y th~t 
with t.otal authority. That does come up occasio,nally in our mvestl
gations, especially in the type cases we are talking about. 

Senator PRYOR. Thank you. 
Senator Melcher. 
Senator MELCHER. Thank you. 
Mr. Nelson, you list during the fiscal years of ~977 through 1982, 

approxinlately 1309 false representation complrunts. And then, on 
the succeeding page, you mention under Braswell, Inc., of Atlanta, 
that between July 1980 an~ Sept~mber 1~82, 138 false representa
tion complaints were filed, lnvolving 50 different products market-
ed by Braswell. . f th 
- First. of all, that 138 you list under Braswell, Inc., IS part 0 e 

original figure, is it not, of 1,309? 
Mr. NELSON. Yes) it would be. _ 
Senator MELCHER. I:io.',: many of these 1,300-odd fal.se ~epresenta 

tion complaints were Inl~lat~ ~y' the Postal Corporatlldon. lik t 
~1r. NELSON. C-omplalnts Inltlated-George, wou you - eo 

tlllSwer thtlt? _." ed' thO tat 
1\11'. DAVIS. \'\feU. the word "complrunts as ~s In. 18 se-

ll1l\ut is talking about the formal, legal compla:nt that 18 filed by 
tht~ l\)~tal &'lr\'iC{\ with the administrative la,\~ Judges, for the pur-
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pose of enforcing section 3005. Therefore, all of the complaints 
were filed by the Postal Service. 

Senator MELCHER. Yes, I understand that. But of those 1,309, 
how many of the complaints originated because a representative of 
the Postal Corporation apprehended the misleading misrepresenta
tion? 

Mr. DAVIS. As opposed to someone else first identifying it? 
Senator MELCHER. As opposed to a citizen. 
Mr. DAVIS. I could not tell you. I do not know. 
Senator MELCHER. Well, the point of my question is this: First of 

all, I would assume that a portion of these is first observed by rep
resentatives, employees, of the Postal Corporation--

Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir, that is correct. 
Senator MELCHER. I am correct? 
Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir. 
Senator MELCHER. But you do not know whether it would be half 

or two-thirds, or-how big of a group do you have looking at this. 
within the Corporation? 

Mr. NELSON. We have about 100 inspectors nationwide who are 
assigned mail fraud duties. 

Senator MELCHER. Now, that is to apprehend mail fraud or to re-
spond to a citizen's complaint? 

Mr. NELSON. Yes, that is right. 
Senator MELCHER. Which? 
Mr. NELSON. Both. 
Senator MELCHER. Both. Can you tell me whether these 100 em

ployees are originating many of the complaints themselves; that is 
part of my question. 

Mr. NELSON. They originate complaints themselves, based on 
publication monjtoring programs that we have, where there is an 
ad that is obviously so bald that it is easy to see, like, "Take aging 
skin off your face in 7 seconds," or "Take this pill and increase 
your bust size six cups in 8 days, "-that type of thing. 

There are about 40 inspectors who have assignments that relate 
to publication monitoring, that monitor assigned publications. I 
cannot tell you what percent of the complaints relate to cases 
brought by those inspectors from pUblication monitoring as op
posed to those that come in the door from the citizen or the con
sumer. 

Senator MELCHER. Is it easy for a citizen to file a complai~t? 
Mr. NELSON. Yes, I think it is. 
Senator MELCHER. At any post office? 
Mr. NELSON. Any post office, that is right. 
Senator MELCHER. And the Postal Corporation employees will not 

think it is an oddball complaint? 
Mr. NELSON. No, I certainly hope not-and we get plenty of them 

in, so I do not believe that is the case. 
Senator MELCHER. All right. And then it is assigned to somebody 

of this 100. Are those people located just here in Washington? 
Mr. NELSON. Oh, no. They are throughout the country. -
Senator MELCHER. The consent orders or the consent decrees are, 

I suspect, of a nature, if you will modify your advertising, we will 
withdraw the complaint; is that it? 
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Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir, that is the basic undertaking in the consent 
agreement. 

Senator MELCHER. And the other step, a stop order, means that 
the consent agreement could not be reached? 

Mr. DAVIS. That is correct. 
Senator MELCHER. And how many of these 1,309-and after all, 

this covers 6 fiscal years-I expect it is all of fiscal year 1977 
through all of fiscal year 1982-of those 1,309 false representation 
complaints, those e·re formal complaints, and they represent those 
after there was ~ certain amount of screening prior to taking any 
kind of an actiml; is that correct? 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir. 
Senator MELCHER. Now, out of those, how many were actually 

prosecuted? 
Mr. DAVIS. Well, as these statistics indicate, there were 542 mail 

stop orders. A mail stop order can only result from the completion 
of the entire administrative procedure. 

A consent agreement can be entered into at any time. They can 
be entered into at the beginning of the investigation or in the 
middle of a hearing; indeed, they are often entered into after a 
mail stop order is issued. Our interest under the civil statute is to 
get people to stop cheating the public. Weare not trying to punish 
anybody. If they are willing to change their advertising and go 
forth and sin no more, we are perfectly happy with that. We will 
accept a consent agreement and we will remove the mail stop 
order. 

We are not interested in drying up anybody's business. We are 
just simply interested in eliminating falsity from the advertising. 
So the consent agreement can be entered into at any stage in these 
proceedings or indeed, after they are concluded. 

Senator MELCHER. Well, there is a criminal penalty, however, to 
the statute--

Mr. DAVIS. Not under this statute. There is a separate criminal 
mail fraud statute that has different jurisdictional requirements. 
None of these statistics involve prosecutions under the mail fraud 
statute. 

Senator MELCHER. All right. Can you inform us, then, how many 
criminal complaints were pursued? 

Mr. NELSON. I have 3 years' statistics with me. In fiscal year 
1980-1 will give you convictions, if that will suffice-we convicted 
1,370 mail fraud offenders; in fiscal year 1981, 1,046; and in fiscal 
year 1982, 966. 

Senator MELCHER. Well, in effect, the criminal side of this is 
bigger than the civil side, then? 

Mr. NELSON. Yes, that is right. I might expand on my remarks a 
little earlier, when I mentioned 100 inspectors. We have our fraud 
work categorized. Category 1 is what we consider the most impor
tant. That includes frauds against the. elderly, frauds against the 
Postal Service, and a few others. We have 100 inspectors, roughly, 
who work only the category 1 fraud work. The total fraud work en
compasses about 350 inspectors. 

Senator MELCHER. Now, if I am an elderly person-soon getting 
there, by the way-and I receive through the mail a fraudulent 
document, I would have no difficulty asking you to examine it, 
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asking the Corporation to ~xamine it-or would you insist that I 
first approach an attorney-now, I am talking about a fraudu
lent-well, let me give you. a for-instance-a fraudulent document, 
say, in a real estate deal, and I suspected there was fraud involved. 
I received a document in the mail from somebody I am doing busi
ness with, but I have reason to believe that there is fraud and mis
representation. Would I have difficulty getting assistance from the 
Corporation? 

Mr. DAVIS. It depends on the nature of the assistance, I think. 
We do receive, among the thousands of complaints we receive every 
year, complaining about mail fraud, a lot of complaints that are 
not within the jurisdiction of the Postal Service. They are, perhaps, 
misunderstandings between parties, or they are perhaps actual 
cases of fraud, but fraud addressed really on a local or State basis 
under civil enforcement in the courts. They do not raise themselves 
to the level the Supreme Court has established for viable prosecu
tion under the postal fraud statutes. 

So sometimes our answer to an inquiry is not a candid, complete, 
analytical review of the document. Rather, it is a statement that 
says, "Regrettably, this does not concern proper enforcement of the 
postal statutes." 

Senator MELCHER. Well, the proper avoidance of crime, of course, 
is punishment for those guilty of it, and one example sometimes 
saves a thousand people from a similar situation. 

I am reassured by the fact that you are not only approaching 
this from the civil side of it, a stop order, or a consent agreement, 
but also from the criminal side, and I encourage you to be active 
there. 

Thank you very much. 
Senator PRYOR. Thank you, gentlemen. We appreciate your testi

mony this morning. 
Mr. NELSON. Thank you, and it was our pleasure to be here. 
Senator PRYOR. We will now ask for the third panel to come for

ward, which consists of Trooper Malcolm Murphy, Mrs. Willis, and 
Elaine Biddle. 

Mrs. Willis, we appreciate you coming, and I understand you 
have your daughter, Mrs. Biddle with you. And Malcolm Murphy is 
a State trooper, I understand, with the Pennsylvania State Police. 

The committee's survey of consumer fraud has determined that 
phony home repair schemes are those that are most frequently per
petrated against the elderly today. 

Our next witness is Edna Willis, an 80-year-old resident of Con
cord, Pa., who was defrauded by a group of traveling repair cons, 
and we welcome her this morning and her daughter, Ela~ne Biddle, 
of Pennsylvania, and Malcolm Murphy, once again, from the Penn
sylvania State Police. 

Mrs. Willis, for the record, is an 80-year-old resident of Concord, 
Pa., who, along with her husband, was victimized by a home repair 
fraud. Because her vision is poor, Mrs. Willis' statement will be 
read by Mrs. Biddle. Both women are accompanied by Mr. Murphy, 
of the Pennsylvania State Police, who conducted this investigation 
in the Willis case. 
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In many respects, the Willis case is typical of home repair fraud, 
which is among the group of frauds that the committee found to be 
most frequently perpetrated against elderly people. 

This case is unique, however, in that some level of restitution 
was ultimately achieved. And we would, Mrs. Willis, like to hear 
from you at this time. And Mrs. Biddle, will you read her state
ment, please? 

STATEMENT OF EDNA WILLIS, CONCORD, PA.; ACCOMPANIED BY 
ELAINE BIDDLE, DAUGHTER; AND TROOPER MALCOLM 
MURPHY, PENNSYLVANIA STATE POLICE 

Mrs. BIDDLE. Good morning, Mr. Chairman. 
My name is Elaine Biddle. I am speaking for my mother, Edna, 

because her vision is poor. She is 80 years old, and she has lived in 
Pennsylvania all her life. 

Last year, on June 28, 1982, her husband was sweeping the drive
way when three men pulled up in an old pickup truck. They said 
they happened to be in the neighborhood and noticed that their 
driveway needed to be resurfaced. Since they were already in the 
area, they offered to do the job at a bargain rate of $9. 

"My husband and I talked about it, and because it seemed like 
such a good deal, agreed. Five minutes later, two of the men 
knocked on our door, saying that they had completed the job and 
demanded payment. When I started to write out a check for $9, one 
of the men stopped me. 'No,' he said, 'you have made a mistake. 
That is $9 a foot.' He insisted that I write a check for $320. 

"Because the two men were standing there on either side of my 
husband, I was afraid of what they might do to him, so I wrote the 
check. You have no idea how helpless I felt when I was writing it 
but I did it to save my husband's life. No sooner did I hand them 
the check, than they ran out the door. I said to my husband, 'I 
think we have been robbed,' 

"A neighbor got the truck license number and called the State 
police. I called the bank to stop payment on the check, but they 
were too quick for me. Within 5 minutes, they had already been 
there and cashed the check. 

"The whole thing, from the time they arrived to the time they 
left took 45 minutes. When I looked at the driveway afterward, I 
found all they had done was to spray kerosene or some kind of oil 
on the surface. It was so slippery that you could not even walk on 
it. My daughter had to get some detergent, and we washed it away. 
Later, my husband and daughter bought some blacktop and resur
faced the driveway themselves. It cost us about $50. 

"Because of the work of the State police, we received a full resti
tution from a relation of one of the people who had ripped us off. 
But my life has not been the same. We had lived for more than 50 
years in the same house. We had never had any trouble. We 
always left the doors open and were not afraid. After this hap
pened, I had nightmares. I was afraid the men would come back 
and punish us for turning them in. My husband was upset. We 
began locking our doors. 

"They took advantage of us because we were too trusting and be
cause of our age. They knew we could not fight back. I think it is 
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terrible. They could never have gotten away with it with younger 
people. 

"I hope my appearance here today will help someone else avoid 
the kind of thing that happened to me. I will be glad to answer any 
questions you may have. 

"Thank you." 
Senator PRYOR. Mrs. Willis, we do appreciate you coming this 

morning. 
First, why did you feel compelled to write the check for $320 

when you knew that these men did not deserve it? 
Mrs. WILLIS. Well, we did not feel that they did. We just thought 

they were going to do us a good turn. "Then they said $9, I said to 
my husband, "Why, we can't go wrong." So, when I went to write 
the check out, he said it was $320. And I said to my husband, "We 
have been robbed." That was it. 

Senator PRYOR. And at that point, did you have a feellng of fear 
of these individuals? 

Mrs. WILLIS. Well, we have had a fear ever since. 
Senator PRYOR. Did you feel that if you had not written the 

check that you may have been subjected to some bodily harm? 
Mrs. WILLIS. Well, they were gypsies, is what they were. One was 

standing on one side of my husband-who is 82-and the other was 
standing alongside of him. And if I had not written the check out, I 
think they could have knocked him over and scared us, you know. 
So, I wrote them the check. 

Senator PRYOR. So, out of fear, you wrote the check? 
Mrs. WILLIS. Out of fear, yes. 
Senator PRYOR. We can certainly understand and appreciate 

that. 
You called the bank, I understand, immediately after--
Mrs. WILLIS. And they had just left the bank when I called. 
Senator PRYOR. They had raced to the bank after you had writ-

ten the check. 
Mrs. WILLIS. Yes; the baak is only just a few feet from us. 
Senator PRYOR. I see. And, Mrs. Willis, I understand that you 

and your husband were victimized by 2 of the 10 most harmful 
frauds identified by the Aging Committee's survey. Is it a fact that 
you were subsequently also ripped off by a certain insurance fraud 
or a scheme of that nature, and if so, we would like to hear about 
that particular situation. 

Mrs. WILLIS. That was a medicare condition. He tried to sell us 
insurance for medicare. Vve took it out-I forget how much I gave 
him,) but I paid him a downpayment on it. We never received it or 
heard from them since. 

Senator PRYOR. Did they knock on your door and sell it door to 
door, or was it through the mail? 

Mrs. WILLIS. No. It was door to door. They came to the door. 
Senator PRYOR. It is my understanding that it was possibly in the 

neighborhood of some $800 that you may have paid for the policy? 
Mrs. WILLIS. That is right. 
Senator PRYOR. And that subsequent to that, you or your hus

band, Mr. Willis, was admitted to the hospital and told by the hos
pital that it was a worthless policy-is that correct? 

Mrs. WILLIS. Yes; that is right. 
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Senator PRYOR. I would also like to commend our friend, Mal
colm Murphy, this morning, from the State police. I would like to 
ask you, Mr. Murphy, b.ow you became involved in the case of Mrs. 
Willis? 

Mr. MURPHY. Yes, Senator, I am a criminal investigator for the 
Pennsylvania State Police. Our barracks are located in Philadel
phia, Pa. 

On this particular day, we assigned a patrol officer in the area 
where Mrs. Willis lives to investigate the initial complaint, and as 
a result of what that officer did, the case was eventually turned 
over to me within a short period of time-in fact, I think, later on 
that afternoon. 

The officer, after interviewing Mrs. Willis and ne~ghbors, went to 
Southeast National Bank and determined that the person had been 
there and had cashed the check. He also made a determination, by 
talking to the teller, from the physical description, that the person 
used a Delaware State operator's license as identification, and that 
number was available to the patrol officer. 

I got involved in the investigation and wor1\:ed with the Delaware 
State Police in trying to locate this person. Within 2 days, I filed 
criminal charges against him in the Commonwealth of Pennsylva
nia. I notified the Delaware State Police that he was wanted and 
that we would extradite for this crime. 

I was informed by the Delaware State Police that the address 
that was listed on the driver's license was a nonexistent address. In 
fact, I believe it was a vacant lot, if my memory serves me. That, of 
course, initiated another investigation by the Delaware State Police 
to determine how he had gotten a driver's license sent to a vacant 
lot, how he would have achieved that. At that time, the Philadel
phia Inquir:er newspaper, in checking for the police news, became 
lnvolved Wlth us, and we gave them the information concernina 

this. scam. Vf e then obtai~ed a lot of press coverage, and the TV 
statIOns got lnvolved, and It was getting a lot of coverage in south
eastern Pennsylvania. 

I was then approached by a confidential source in Delaware 
County, who stated that he had talked with the leader of this par
ticular group. 

Senator PRYOR. In other words, it was an organized group that 
had conned Mrs. Willis and her husband? 

Mr. MURPHY. Yes, sir, very much so. 
The intermediary, or confidential source, informed me that they 

we~e concerned that the State police were involved in the investi
gabon. They stated that they did not know they were operating in 
a State polic.e .area-which tends t.o make us feel good-and that 
they were wllhng to make restitutIOn and offer an apology to the 
Willises. 

I discussed this with the district attorney in Delaware County, 
a~rl I felt that we c.ould accept the full restitution and the apology 
wlthout ~ compromlse. There were some questions about testimony, 
about ~r~al procedure, and going on with this case, and the age of 
the Wllhses, and we thought that maybe justice would be served in 
accepting the restitution and the apology. 

. W ~ also. went to the leader of this band and, of course, in inter
vIewlng hlm, we ended up seizing a vehicle from him that was 
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wanted in the State of Texas for a similar crime. However the de
termination could not be made as to whether or not he o~ned the 
vehicle; he had. i~ in his possession. Ultimately, the restitution was 
made to the WIlhses, and the charges were withdrawn in this case. 

Senator PRYOR. Mrs. Willis, we want to thank you very much for 
your statement, because I think this is happening so many times, 
every day, across our country, and it is really pretty rare to have 
someone willing to come forward and state exactly what happened 
to them. I think testimony like this will help prevent other people 
from being victimized in the future, as you and Mr. Willis have 
been victimized in the past. 

W.e thank you,. Mrs. Bid~le, ~nd we thank you, Mr. Murphy, for 
commg and sharIng your bme. I know how important that is, and 
you have performed a real service, not only for the Willises, but for 
all of us, and for all consumers who may be victimized, may be sub
jected, to this type of victimization. 

So we want to thank all of you. 
Mrs. Willis, would you care to say anything else? 
Mrs. WILLIS. Well; I just want to say we had lived there for 50 

years, and we had never locked the doors. We used to go and do 
our shopping and come back and just open the screen door and 
come in. Nobody had ever been in there. 

Senator PRYOR. I will bet you lock the door now-
Mrs. WILLIS [interrupting]. We lock the door now, yes. 
Senator PRYOR [continuing]. Because of the fear that you must 

feel, because on two occasions, now, you have been victimized by 
people who have actually come to your home. 

Mrs. WILLIS. That is right. 
Senator PRYOR. Well, I was just about to apologize that your Sen

ator from Pennsylvania. and the chairman of this committee was 
n<?t available, but he has returned, and she has been a very fine 
wltness, John, and performed a real public service. . 

Chairman HEINZ [resuming chair]. Senator Pryor, let me thank 
you for chairing the hearing in my absence on the floor. 

Mrs. Willis, we welcome you to this committee. I am sorry I did 
not hear all of your testimony. But I do want to put in the record 
the articles from the Philadelphia Inquirer of JUly 7 and 9, 1982, 
that states with a great deal of accuracy, as I understand it, and a 
good deal of compassion, the situation in which you found yourself 
last year. 

[The newspaper articles referred to follow:] 
[From the Philadelphia Inquirer, July 7,1982] 

VICTIMIZED-AN OLD DRIVEWAy-REPAVING SCHEME COSTS ELDERLY COUPLE $320 

(By Larry Lewis and Robert McSherry) 

Edna G. Willis' 80-year-old hand trembled as she filled out a $320 check to get the 
two men who were standing over her 82-year-old husband out of her home. 

The third member of the itinerant driveway-resurfacing company, which had 
pulled in off the highway less than 30 minutes earlier stood outside by a blue 
pickup truck with pumping apparatus in back. 

Th.:: strangers arrived midmorning 9 days ago at the Willises' home off Wilming
ton Plke on the Delaware County line in Concord and struck up a conversation with 
John Willis, who was sweeping his driveway. They offered to repave the parking 
area for $9, got the Willises approval for the bargain-rate work and sprayed a dark 
liquid on the drive. 
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Then they said that the Willises had misunderstood, that the charge would be $9 
a foot. When the owners objected, they found themselves cornered in their living 
room by two men who Mrs. Willis said wer~ making ev~rr effort to be intimida~in~. 

"You have no idea how helpless I felt whIle I was wrltmg that check, but I dId It 
to save my husband's life," said Mrs. Willis, who bought the one-story stucco house 
52 years ago, installed plumbing and electricity over the years and now tries to 
maintain it on the social security checks that she and her second husband of 19 
years receive. "They could have knocked him over to get what they wanted." 

Consumer-fraud experts say the Willises were victimized by a driveway-repaving 
scheme that can be traced back at least 50 years. Lately, authorities say, the con 
game has taken a more vicious turn because it is directed at very old people in 
small, country retirement towns. 

"It happens every spring and summer," said Trooper Malcolm L. Murphy of the 
Franklin Center State police barracks, who is investigating the Willis case. "I think 
other people have had it happen and they are too embarrassed to report it." 

In recent weeks he said, citizen inquiries to the State police about men offering to 
pave driveways lately have been increasing. 

Mrs. Willis had the money in her bank account because, she said, she was saving 
to pay for a second trip to the hospital at the end of July to try to find out why she 
has felt ill and unable to eat for days on end. 

"I had just paid my first hospital bill-$l,OOO-the day before," she said. "My hus
band is worth more to me than any amount of money, but I could have used the 
$320 for the hospital. Now I don't know what I'm going to do. I intended to stop 
payment on the check, but they were too fast for me." 

The men cashed the check in less than 5 minutes. They drove about 500 yards up 
Wilmington Pike to the Southeast National Bank of Pennsylvania branch and used 
a Delaware driver's license as identification for the transaction. 

State police have questioned one man in connection with the money taken from 
the Willises, but no one has been charged. 

"The price has gone up," said Elaine Halford, executive vice president of the 
Better Business Bureau of Eastern Pennsylvania. "It happens every spring and 
summer, but usually the amount of money is smaller." 

Ms. Halford said studies of the scheme revealed that it began in the 1920's when a 
family in Florida began to roam north during the warm months, overcharging 
people for shoddy home-improvement work-painting, roofing, and driveway resur
facing. 

That clan did so well, she said, that they encouraged imitators. 
"Now they're working in the suburbs because a lot of elderly, retired, trusting 

people live there," she said. 
"Spotting an old person is like a gift from heaven to them. They're preying more 

and more on senior citizens. We get cs many as 30 or 40 calls during the 3-week 
period at the beginning of summer. 

"It's the same people over and over, and they know just how long to stay around 
before it gets too hot with the police. There's really no recourse. Once they're gone, 
it's too late." 

She said her office recorded one incident several years ago in which a family lost 
$1,600 to a variation of the driveway fraud. 

"Some men showed up and said they were going to paint the family's house," she 
said. "After they got their money, they sprayed the house with one gallon of paint 
mixed with 30 gallons of water. They were only there 1 % hours .. When they left, 
they had paint on windows, fences, and neighbors' cars." 

"This is a scam that's been going on every spring in all of the 10 years I've been 
here," said John E. Kelly, deputy attorney general in charge of the Bureau of Con
su~er Relations' Philadelphia regional office. "It's very, very difficult to do any
thmg to stop it unless you catch these men right in the act." 

Even then it would be difficult to prove fraud, he said, because there would have 
to be no doubt that the men took more money than they were supposed to get for 
the wo:~ while not providing materials they had promised. 

The Itmerants often use second-hand oil out of cars and mix it with soot to cover 
the driveways, Elaine Halford said, and it washes off with the first rainfall. 

"They use co~l tar mixed with drained oil," said an operator of a local paving 
company who dId not want his name used in conjunction with the shady practice. 
"It makes a very cheap mix. The drained oil eventually will make the driveway de-
teriorate." . 

"When I. worked in western Pennsylvania several years ago, the farmers would 
contract WIth these men to work on the barns," Murphy said. "They would pay 
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. them up to $1,000. That's a lot of money to pay to have crankcase oil poured on 
your barn roof." 

No one is sure what the three suspects used on the Willises' driveway, but it 
turned the black asphalt brown, and there now are fine, spider-web cracks in the 
surface. 

"My husband and a neighbor washed it off a couple of times with soap and water 
and we hope it's all right." Mrs. Willis said. ' 

She said this was the first time that she or her husband who is retired from 
S~rode's scrapple company in West Chester, had had to call th~ police to handle any 
dIfficulty for them. 

"We've never had any trouble," she said. "We've saved our money. We're inde
pe~dent. We don't have to depend on anybody for anything. And now this. 

Those men had it all planned. I'm upset. My husband's upset. I had a dream that 
they came back here to punish us because we had them arrested." 
. Mrs. Wil~is said she knew that the men took adva.ntage of her husband because he 
IS too trustmg and less able, because of his age, to fight back. 

"I think it's terrible," she said. "They know they couldn't get away with it with 
younger people." 

gne more part of the episode sticks in Mrs. Willis' mind. 
As the man took the check and was leaving," she recalled "he said· 'I'm sorry 

you're sick. I'll have my grandmother pray for you tonight.' " , , 
How could he do that?" 

[From the Philadelphia Inquirer, July 9, 1982] 

$320 RETURNED TO VICTIMS OF REPAIR SCHEME 

(By Larry Lewis and Robert McSherry) 

A retired, elderly Delaware County couple who lost $320 to a driveway-repaving 
con game 1~ dars ago. got their .money back yesterday, along with an apology. 

State polIce mvestIgators saId John, 82, and Edna Willis 80 of rural Concord 
Concord Township, accepted an offer of restitution from an Upp~r Darby family re: 
!ated ~o ~t least one of the three men who the couple said had intimidated them 
mto slgn~ng a $320 check as payment for shoddy driveway-resurfacing work. The 
couple saId they had been saving the $320 for the wife's hospital treatment. 
. Tro~per Malcolm L. Murphy of the Franklin Center State police barracks who 
mvestIgated the June 28 incident at the Willises' home said an intermediary who 
asked to remain anonymous had delivered the money ~nd assured the couple that 
the entire affair was "a mistake." 

The Willises agreed that they would no longer pursue possible prosecution in the 
case, Murphy said. 
" "We contacted the vi~tims and told them the decision was theirs," Murphy said. 

W.e t~ld them they still could pursue the prosecution. The normal State police 
polIcy IS to arrest rather than make an attempt at restitution. But they indicated 
they WOUld. prefer to accept restitution in the full amount. There also was an apol
ogy that thIS all had been a misunderstanding. 

"In this instance, restitution was the appropriate method of disposing of the case 
b.ecause of the age ?f .the victims, their financial situation, and the medical condi
tion of one of the VIctIms. They need the money more than they need their day in 
court." 

The Willises said the problem arose when three strangers appeared at their 
~odest, one-story home off Wilmington Pike on the Delaware County line one morn
mg almost 2 weeks ago and offered to repave their driveway for $9. After the work 
was completed, according to the couple, the men said they meant that the charge 
would be $9 per foot and that they were due $320. 

Edna Willis wrote a check for that amount just to get the men out of her home 
because they were standing menancingly over her husband, she said. 

'F~e .couple saved the $320 from their social security allotments because Mrs. 
WIlhs IS scheduled to return to the hospital at the end of this month to see whether 
dORtors can determine why she has felt ill and unable to eat for days at a time. 

My husband is worth more to me than any amount of money, but I could have 
used the $320 for the hospital," she said soon after the incident. 

Consumer-fraud experts say the Willises had been taken in by a scheme that can 
be traced back at least 50 years, and involves overcharging for poorly executed 
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repair work. In this case, police said, the itin~r~nt ,rep~vers apparently poured used 
motor oil mixed with cheap coal tar on the Wllhses d.rlyeway.. . 

The couple told police that the three men were dnvmg a blue pIckup truck wIth 
pumping equipment in the back. .. , 

Trooper Murphy said the men had cashed the WlllIses che.ck ~t ~ bank brax:ch 
near the couple's home, and that they ~sed a Dover, Del., ?rIVer s lIcense bearmg 
the name "Frank Mitchell" as identificabon for the transactIOn.. . . 

Murphy said a check on. the licens~ led to the Upper Darby famIly, whIch he saId 
does repaving work. He saId a blue pIckup .truck was fou~d there. . 

During questioning, Murp~y said, a famIly .me~ber saId that the MItchell suspect 
for whom police were searchmg had gone to !lve m another Sta~e. 

This week a man acting on behalf of the Upper Darby famIly ap~roached State 
police with the offer of restitution to avoid further trouble, Murphy saId. 

Chairman HEINZ. I have one question about the people who de
frauded you. Were these gypsj,es? Were these fly-by-night types of 
operators? . . . 

Mrs. WILLIS. Well, that IS what they looked lIke to Il'l:e, gypsIes. 
They had big moustaches that. hung down around. theIr mouths, 
and they were sort of dirty l?oking and careless l<~okIng. 

Chairman HEINZ. Not terrIbly trustworthy lookIng? 
Mrs. WILLIS. They just looked like bums. . 
Chairman HEINZ. And I gather they acted lIke bums, too, after 

they--
Mrs. WILLIS. Yes; that is right. 
Chairman HEINZ. Well, I will tell you, it is my view that when 

we catch people like that, we ought to lock them up and throw the 
key away for a long time. They keep coming back; they keep trad
ing information. They keep even pass~ng your names, and others 
like you, along to some other con artIst or bunco scheme perso~. 
They prey on some of the most valuable members of our communI
ty by taking them, and just as they did ~n the case of you and y?ur 
husband, literally, stand them up agaInst the wall and shaking 
them down. And that is not too harsh a term to use here-these 
are shakedown artists. 

Mrs. WILLIS. And then, we got an awful lot of publicity, which we 
did not like. They had our pictures in all of the papers, and every
body all around was calling us to see what had haRpened. 

Chairman HEINZ. And that is embarrassing, isn tit? 
Mrs. WILLIS. And that was embarrassing and upsetting. 
Chairman HEINZ. Every single instance of this kind of fraud in-

volves much more than monetary loss. It, in the case of your situa
tion, involves a considerable amount of not only embarrassment, 
but as I understand it, you had put some money aside so that you 
could have another visit to the hospital-isn't that correct? 

Mrs. WILLIS. That is correct. 
Chairman HEINZ. So, we literally are having senior citizens' lives 

and health being put at risk, when people come along and prey on 
them as this group, this gang of gypsy con men and shakedown 
men did in your case. 

I have no further questions. 
Senator Melcher, did you have an opportunity to ask questions? 
Senator MELCHER. No; I have no questions. I thank the witnesses 

for their testimony. I think it was very helpful. 
Chairman HEINZ. Mrs. Willis, I want to particularly thank you. I 

apologize that I was not able to be here to introduce you. We are 
very honored that you were willing to come down, all the way from 
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southeastern Pennsylvania, and that you were willing, in spite of 
the fact that it is not very enjoyable-as you mentioned, it is em
barrassing to come and have to get any more publicity on some
thing. But I salute you, because your testimony will be helpful to 
this committee and to the Congress in devising ways and means 
and stimulating our law enforcement people to do a better job of 
protecting our senior citizens. We do not want next year or the 
year after to have another case like yours. I think it is a very 
tragic thing to have happen to anybody. 

We are very, very grateful to you. Is there anything you would 
like to add? 

Mrs. WILLIS. No; I just wanted to say that at one time I said to 
my husband, "Well, it did not pay us to stint and save our money, 
because now it is all gone," if you know what I mean. But then, 
when we got it }jack, we felt better. 

Chairman HEINZ. Well, you have made all of us feel a good deal 
better by your coming here, and we thank you for all the efforts 
involved. 

Mrs. WILLIS. It has been an enjoyable trip so far. 
Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much. 
Would our next witnesses come forward? I am informed by staff 

that Lemmie Wilson, an Ohio-based con who ran a "school for 
scoundrels," and Police Detective Garver have not arrived. If they 
do arrive by the end of the hearing, they will be provided an oppor
tunity to testify. 

We will now proceed with our final panel, which is Clair E. Vil
lano, Terry Getsay, and Stephen Nicks. 

Let me say before you start that this panel clearly consists of 
State and local consumer agency and law enforcement specialists. 
We are glad to have Clair Villano, president of the National Asso
ciation of Consumer Agency Administrators; Terry Getsay, a crimi
nal intelligence analyst with the Illinois Department of Law En
forcement; and Stephen Nicks, the director of the Office of Con
sumer Protection, Wisconsin Department of Justice. 

And I might add that much of the battle against consumer fraud 
is indeed being waged by our State and local agencies, and had it 
not been for the cooperation of you, and people like you, on our 
f1urvey to some 1,300 individuals with the same kind of interest in 
consumer protection and justice that you have, we would not have 
been able to have the fine informational base that we are going to 
be making available to our colleagues and that will be made availa
ble to the public today. 

So, we welcome you to our hearings. We thank you for coming 
the distance you have, and we look forward to your statements. 

Ms. Villano, would you like to be our first witness? 

STATEMENT OF CLAIR E. VILLANO, DENVP.:R, COLO., PRESIDENT, 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF CONSUMER AGENCY ADMINISTRA· 
TORS 

Ms. VILLANO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I run the consumer fraud unit for the Denver district attorney. 

We are the largest consumer protection agency in the Rocky Moun
tain area. When I tell you there are 11 on staff, you will get an 
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idea of the scarcity of resources when it comes out west of the Mis-
sissippi in doing consumer protection.. . . 

I am here as the president of the NatlOnal ASSOCIatlOn of Con-
sumer Agency Administrators-NACAA. Th~se are the people ~ho 
head the local agencies-city, county, occaslOnally State, agrIcul
ture departments, and other State .of~ces, and we do have some at-
torneys general offices in our aSSOCIatlOn. . . 

We are the people who are eyeball-to-eyeball wIth the constitu
ents the consumers, the people who have problems, and the people 
who' would like to see some relief. . ' 

Today, we are focusing on the .older ~mencan as a specIal target-
ed population of fraud. I would lIke to Int~oduce a. th~ul?iht. th8:t h~s 
not been expressed, which is, I do not ~eheve their vIct!mIzatlOn IS 
merely a function of calendar age. I thInk the people. who are older 
Americans today, if we consider that tJ.:ey were raIsed an~ grew 
into adulthood pre-1920, had a world VIew and psychological re
sponses that seem eons ago; these are people who trust, these are 
people who care about their homes, these. ar:e people who are very, 
very responsible. And so, I will not say It IS because of a certain 
calendar age, but perhaps of a certain era. in which they began 
their transactions with the business communIty. 

Ironically, just as we at the local level ~e becoming tr~lI!endous
ly more impressed with the number of senIors who are VIctims, our 
resources are shrinking. This is no news to you, of .course. ~ut 
when I talk about resources at the lo..:;al level, please In WashIng
ton understand-I am not talking millions, I am not talking hun
dreds of thousands-I am talking about offices for population bases 
of anywhere from 170,000 to 600,000 people who are running on 
$70,000 budgets. That may be three or four people. A lit~le quick 
division tells you we have people working for $10,000, trYing to do 
consumer protection, good people all, trying very hard. The prob
lem we have and what we hear from Washington increasingly is, 
"Oh, you pedple at the local level, you can do it better." We t~ink 
we can do it better, but we cannot do everything, and we certainly 
cannot fill every gap and every responsibility that is being handed 
down to us. 

I would like to tell you very briefly about three complaints that 
have come across my desk in the last 3 months. It will give you, I 
think, a flavor of the individual kinds of complaints we handle as 
opposed to the large-scale patterns, the mass complaints involving 
the hundreds of thousands of dollars, that naturally belong to the 
national agencies. 

In June, an elderly Aurora couple read an ad: "Would you like 
an extra $1,000 per month part time? We will help you start a 
home print shop, all supplies, for $1,250, training included." Well, 
they lived on a pension and social security, and they desperately 
needed some more money, so they did, in fact, invest $1,250. They 
got a discontinued model press, im.proper setup, no training, and a 
lot of grief. Six months later, they wrote tl us: "We haven't made 
anything above expenses. We have taken in $142"-a far cry from 
the $1,000 per month they thought they might be able to make. 
"Please help," they said. 
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Luckily, we were able to use our civil powers and get the atten'
tion of the man who sold them this investment. We did get them 
more training, and I am happy to say that ended happily. 

An elderly Denver widr.w was called by the furnace company 
who had installed her fu_ ... lace a few years earlier. They told her 
they were on the verge of bankruptcy, and they wanted to be sure 
she was protected with a warranty. The furnace man arrived, 
crawled under the house-where she was unlikely to go-and told 
her, unforturiately, all her lead gas and water pipes were leaking, 
rusting, and needed to be repaired-$5,OOO. He wanted half up
front, but would take her $100 check until the next day, when she 
could get to the savings and loan to withdraw $2,500. Luckily, she 
talked to a neighbor. They called Public Service, who crawled un
derneath, discovered there was nothing wrong with the pipes, and 
called us. We were there the next day, body mikes in hand and 
such; the gentleman was arrested on the spot when he tried to get 
the money from the lady, charged with felony theft from the elder
ly, which is a special class of crime in Colorado. The case has been 
bound over, and the trial is pending. 

Because furnace fraud is such a problem among the elderly, we 
have put out a special brochure. I want to tell you right now, I now 
know that brochures do not solve anything. They make me feel 
better. We try. We distribute them. But another brochure is not 
the answer to prevention. 

And the last case, an elderly widow with a diabetic son to care 
for was contacted by one of these boiler room operations out of 
Florida. She was convinced, through this glossy type of material, to 
invest $3,500 in strategic metals. Needless to say, within 1 % years, 
the firm's phone was disconnected, she had not heard from them. 
This also had a happy ending, thank goodness. We got in touch 
with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission and the New 
York district attorney. She got part of her money back. The lesson 
cost her $500. 

Well, that is a little flavor of the kinds of cases that we handle. 
What are the implications at the local level? Unlike most law en

forcement agencies, I think I can speak for all our members when I 
say that our filings are often our failures, because when we file a 
case, whether it is criminal or civil, we are playing catchup. The 
harm has been done; the money usually is not restored. The 
damage to the psychological sense of well-being has occurred and is 
rarely made whole again, and you have had good testimony to that. 

The law manipulator relies on the fact that the older American 
often will not know they have been victimized. If they do know, 
they often will not report, and if they do report, they are often 
very reluctant-indeed, often unable-to testify in a court hearing. 

The law manipulator knows this. They also know the fragmented 
sense of law enforcement at the local level; they know tightened 
resources; they know how to keep a low profile, how to keep on the 
move. The asphalt people you heard about are very common. It 
sounds like the Williamson clan to me; we chase them around Colo
rado every spring, and unfortunately, usually chase them into Ari
zona, and Arizona chases them on to the next State. But, at any 
rate, they are out there, and they are making good money at it. 
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OK, enough about problems. What are we going to do about it? I 
am convinced that avoidance can be a learned respo~se. I am con
vinced that we can prevent these. If people do not sIgn ~ontracts, 
do not invest do not send in the mail order, these folks wIll not be 
in business. But we are not going. to do. it by a broc~ure. .. 

Our association has been workIng wIth the AmerIcan ASSocI~~IOn 
of Retired Persons to see if we cannot put together a recru.ltIng, 
training, and evaluation cookbook, E!- manual f?r local agencIes to 
use to get older Americans from theIr communIty to be peer coun
selors, peer teachers of how ~o avoid these problems in the first 
place. You know, it does not ao much good for some ?O-year-old to 
be lecturing to older people, but someone from th~Ir own group 
who can just sit down and talk, .do th~ advance warnIng systems to 
avoid these problems, I am convInced It would work. 

We do not want Government for this. Please, do not think th.at I 
am asking for that. We are hoping v:e can get some corporatIOns 
and foundations, perhaps, to fund tIllS effort. You would probably 
say, "Why don't these agencies just do it themselve~? ~y G~~, they 
must know the need is there." How can you ask CIncInnatI s C?n
sumer Protection Office, with three people, to take on a massI~e 
effort like this from the start, even though they know the need IS 
there? Or the Colorado Attorney General-five people to do con-
sumer protection for the entire State? . . 

That is why We think if we can put together a cookbook, It mIght 
help. Weare also trying to put together a "~ow To Do C~ble Pro
graming," that will appeal to the older AmerIcan, maybe In. a soap 
opera format, maybe in a question and answer, maybe a spInoff ~f 
the Phil Donahue type of thing. We think there are a lot of POSSI
bilities for education. 

I would like to say that the Federal efforts do set a tone and they 
set a standard, but they are not a cure-all. I would like to give my 
compliments to the postal inspectors. In the 7 years that I have 
worked with the economic crime project, with the attorneys gener
al and with NACAA, if there is one group of truly cooperative Fed
er'allaw enforcement people, it is the postal inspectors. 

Now, I am going t.o turn it over to people with a different per
spective. But on behalf of the local people, the people down t~ere 
in the trenches, thank you for letting us come to add our testImo-
ny. . 

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you for being in the trenches, Ms. VIl
lano. 

Mr. Nicks. 

STATEMENT OF STEPHEN J. NICKS, MADISON, WIS., DIRECTOR, 
OFFICE OF CONSUMER PROTECTION, WISCONSIN DEPART
MENT OF JUSTICE 

Mr. NICKS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
My name is Steve Nicks, and I am the director of the office of 

consumer protection at the Wisconsin Department of Justice. 
I appreciate the opportunity to share a State's viewpoint of con

sumer protection, and some background, I think, is necessary. 
In Wisconsin, there is a very nice paper symmetry of con~uIIl:er 

protection. We have concurrent jurisdiction with the local dIStrICt 

--,... .... 
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attorneys in the 72 counties who have jurisdiction over consumer 
fraud to handle local matters. The attorney general's office, where 
I am, has jurisdiction to handle statewide matters. We look to the 
Federal agencies, the FTC, and Postal, to handle those things of na
tionwide importance, or interstate matters. 

Unfortunately, in practice, this symmetry breaks down dramati
cally. At the local level in Wisconsin, the local district attorneys 
are understaffed, underpaid, and almost totally concerned with tra
ditional, criminal-type activities. I do not blame them for this, and 
that is certainly where their priorities should lie. 

At the Federal level, I share Clair's thoughts with respect to the 
Postal Service as opposed to the Federal Trade Commission, which 
we have seen in the last 1 % or 2 years, to have almost totally ab
sented itself from the litigation efforts in consumer protection. 
What this means to us in Wisconsin, at least in the attorney gener
al's office, is that we are in the middle of a sandwich of inactivity, 
and unfortunately, us in the mitidle-the meat, if you will-is get
ting smaller with respect to an increase in workload. Last year, our 
number of consumer .complaints was up 9 percent, and our budget 
was down a real 12 percent. So from the standpoint of what we are 
faced with oJ;l. ..... the two ends and what we have in the middle, we 
have ~~reaf problem meeting the needs of the Wisconsin citizens. 
_ -I'-agree with the main findings of your study and applaud the 
committee for looking into this area. I will not go into any further 
horror stories or examples of complaint.s. I have submitted some 
written testimony, which I would like to be made part of the 
record. , 

Chairman HEINZ. Without objection, your entire testimony will 
be made a part of the record. 1 

Mr. NICKS. Thank you._ • 
I would like to briefly talk about three issues-and as often hap

pens in these hearings, as you sit through the first 2 hours, you 
tend to change what you came t'o say, and I think that is what has 

- . hapRened to me: . : 
I woiild like to categorize my brief comments along three lines: 

First, the forgotten-~ues; next, I would like to talk a little bit 
about the Federal Trade ""Commission, and next, about Postal. 

In the forgotten issues area, when we, either State or local indi
viduals, are dealing eyeball-to-eyeball with the consumers who 
have been defrauded, who have lost money, the important thing to 
these people is not any fancy enforcement action or any flashy' 
court proceeding-it is, do I get my $10 back, do I get my $50 back, 
do I get my $3,000 back. In Wisconsin, at the attorney general's 
office, we received around 16,000 written consumer complaints last 
year, and were able to mediate a large portion of those and, 
through both mediation and our litigation efforts, return $850,000 
to Wisconsin citizens. At the Federal level, and a lot of other 
places, I do not see any real concern for a person losing $5, $10, 
$15. If you are talking about complex economic analyses and 
whether you should start an action or not, you certainly are not 
going to start actions over $5, $10, $15. But I think we owe these 
citizens something with respect to that. 

1 See page 64. 
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This is especially so in the mail order area, that I will get to 
when I discuss the FTC. . 

The last issue in the forgotten issue category IS speed of enforce-
ment. We have had two recent cas~s in 'Yisco~s~n t!lat show ~hat 
when you are dealing with elderly Issues In a htIgat~on sense, m a 
law enforcement sense, special problems occur. We J.us~ concluded 
an action against a seller-unfortunately, from IlhnOl~-of very 
fancy therapeutic beds for $1,300, sold. door-to:door w e~d~rly 
people; the kind of electric beds that go In all kinds of POSItIO~lS 
and have all these good health effects, et cetera. Our problem In 
that case-it was a very unusual case in that we went from start to 
finish in only 6 months-the real problem was that before we fin
ished it in 6 months, two of our best witnesses had passed away. 
And from the standpoint of how you would have to manage on~ of 
these actions and how speedily you have to conclude the actIOn, 
when you are dealing with elderly citizens, it is very difficult. 

We have two more investigations going in the preneed sale of fu
neral merchandise by nonfuneral directors-door-to-door. casket 
sellers, if you will. The investigation right Y!-0w is beco~ing v,ery 
difficult. This is a case I am personally working on. The mvestIga
tor has interviewed 22 people who bought these things, and fully 35 
percent of them have very little recollection of what happened no 
more than 3 or 4 months ago. So it is very difficult to build a case 
because you do not get any specifics from individuals. 

I will zip along, since I see the red light going. 
In the FTC area, we have been very active in Wisconsin with re

spect to mail order nondelivery. The FTC does indeed have a rule, 
and Wisconsin patterned a special statute after the rule, to put 
some teeth into the enforcement. I was somewhat bemused by 
Chairman Miller's testimony this morning that it is a priority en
forcement thing with th~ FTC with respect to the mail order rule. 
We happen to have judgments against two major California corpo
rations that did not deliver literally thousands and thousands of 
items to consumers nationwide. They are both: unfortunately, in 
bankruptcy. We called the FTC to find out what they were doing, 
because the FTC certainly was intervening in that bankruptcy, 
trying to figure out what is going on. And the word I got from the 
staff person in charge of mail order at the FTC was-he was very 
apologetic and said, "You know, we really only have two halftime 
people dedicated to enforcing the mail order rule." So I was very 
interested in how the Chairman sets the other priorities in the de
partment and what kind of staff they dedicate to that. 

Last, although I have not seen S. 450 in the postal area that you 
mentioned, Senator, if it cures some of the problems that the postal 
inspectors spoke to, the closing up shop and starting over problems, 
it would be truly appreciated. In the work-at-home area, the kinds 
of things that you see in the little classified ads, like, "Make 
$106.80, working 2 hours a day at home-send a self-addressed, 
stamped envelope"-Senator Pryor spoke to that, in terms of get
ting to the newspapers. He spoke about an Arkansas newspaper 
editor who screens his classified ads to just refuse those kinds of 
ads. I think that is a super idea. We tried it about 3 weeks ago and 
sent 500 letters from my office to all newspapers in the State of 
Wisconsin, saying, "With respect to work-at-home schemes, here 
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are the symptoms of a bad ad. We have never seen one of these 
things make any money for you." And it has worked wonderfully. 

Chairman HEINZ. Excuse me. Could you send us a copy of that 
for our record? 

Mr. NICKS. We sure can, Senator. I will. 
Chairman HEINZ. Maybe we could get the Federal Trade Com

mission to send them out. [Laughter.] 
[Subsequent to the hearing, Mr. Nicks submitted the following 

letter.] 

o Cp 
BRO'l~O" C. LA rOlll nl, A 11 OK"I \ (,I '<I RAl • WI~(O'l~I'< DI PARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

123 wr~T WA~HINGTON AVENUE 

OlflCl OllON~lI/1.1IK !'1{(Jllt liON • I'() 1Il!\ ·W.h • 1\I,\lll'(l" \\1'( ()"~IN "1:0,. • 11111'110"1 r.OUllbfl-1852 

January, 1983 

Dear Wisconsin Editor: 

Recently there has been a spate of ads in IHsconsin papers 
concerning work-at-home schemes. These classified ads, which are 
drawing the attention and sometimes the participation of many 
Wisconsin consumers, are generally worded similar to the following: 

"$106.80 daily earnings working three hours a day at horne. 
Your earnings are fully guaranteed in writing. For complete 
details and applications, send self-addressed stamped envelope 
to ... 11 

In my experience of reviewing subsequent complaints from 
consumers who responded to these ads, they merely are invitations 
for your readers to spend $15 to $25 to learn how to place similar 
ads. Simply put, it is a pyramid scheme in which consumers rip-off 
other consumers. As you can imagine, it Just doesn't work and almost 
all people end up losing on the deal. Only the original promoters 
(not those placing or responding to local ads) make money. Other 
variations on the scheme include the standard envelope stuffing plans 
and making craft items for resale in the home. The results are the 
same. 

High unemployment has increased the.susceptibility of Nisconsin 
consumers to the promise of work-at-home income. I urge all of you 
to adopt a policy of refusing these ads. The key elements to look 
for as you screen the ads are the promise of easy money, few hours of 
work at home and further contact by the consumer for more information. 
1 realize that some of you have already stopped accepting these ads, 
but to those of you who haven't, I am asking your help in ridding 
Wisconsin of this type of promotion. 

If you have any questions or concerns, please don't hesitate 
to contact me. 

*
.e~lid 

. he J .. 1i:kS 
A sista t Attorney General, 
In Charge Of Consumer Protection 

S.1N :mak 
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Mr. NICKS. Those are all the comments I have. I would be glad to 
answer questions. 

Chairman HEINZ. Thar.k you very much. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Nicks follows:] 

STATEMENT OF STEPHEN J. NICKS 

My name is Stephen J. Nicks and I am the d.irector of th~ office of consume! pro
tection at the Wisconsin Department of Jus~lce. I apprecI!'lte the opportUnity. to 
come before this committee to share a State s experlence m consumer protectIOn 
problems of the elderly. tak d 

Although we are primarily an enforcement agency, we also e cor;sumer e uca-
tion and individual complaint 'mediation seriouslf"' If con~umers d?n t know .what 
their rights are, they won't complain; if they don t complam, we mISS out on mfor-
mation needed to prosecute. W· . 

On paper, there is a nice sym~etry in consumer .fra~~ enf~rcement. In lSconsm, 
th'" statutes envision local distnct attorneys handling local problems. The depart
m;nt of justice with its 7 prosecutors, 7 investigators, paralegals, and related sup-

o t staff han.'dles "statewide" problems. And at the Federal level, the Federal 
h~de Co~mission and Postal authorities step in on inters~te matters OF m.atters of 
national concern. In practice, however, this symmetry vanIshe~. Local. dlStnct. ~ttor
neys are understaffed and underpaid and deal almost exclUSIvely With tradItIOnal 
criminal matters. The Federal Trade Commission in. the last 2 years has largely ab
sented itself from the litigation area. What results lS the overload of State enforce-
ment agencies such as ours. . 

To compound this situation, we in Wisc~:msin have ~ad to do more Wlth less. In 
1982, W~ received approximately 16,000 'Ynt~n complau~ts, up 9 percent from 1981. 
In the laBt biennium, the department of JustIce has had Its b~dget reduced by a r~al 
12 percent. As the percelitage of the elderl~ populat~on mcr~ases, the negatIve 
impact of our diminishing resources \ViU ~e pru:uully. eVIdent .. GIven these harsh re
ali.ties, it's a good thing that your commIttee IS taking a serlOUS look at the prob-
lems and possible solutions. . 

The study unveiled today squarely hits the problems we see m our enforcement 
efforts. For the sake of brevity, I will list a few examples:. . 

(1) My office recently concluded a lawsuit against a company wl~lch sold m~chanI
cal beds costing $1,300 to the elderly and infirmed .pe.rsons, by mlsrepresen~mg the 
delivery date, the credit terms, and the characterlStIcs ?f these therapeutIc. b~ds. 
Large deposits were taken and some beds were never delIvered. One of the VlctIms 
was an 83-year-old woman, confined to a walker, who bought ~he bed ~o help her 
sleep. The bed provided ~o little comfort that she: ~ad to get ~p m the m~ddle of the 
night and sleep in a chair. The company was enJomed from lllegal practices, had to 
make over $8,000 in restitution to 17 elderly victims, and was fined $5,000. 

(2) Complaints have been received from elderly. homeowners who were approached 
by itinerent repair crews. Usually these complamts h~ve the common elen:ents of 
unsolicited contact at the home, low estimates for dnveway or home repaIrs, un
marked pickup trucks, and demands for cash payment. 

One elderly woman agreed to let three men seal her driveway after they gave ~er 
a $12 estimate. Upon completion, they told her they guessed wrong and the Job 
would cost $700. When confronted alone by these three men she was frightened not 
to pay. They would not take a check but took a lesser amount of cash she had in the 
house. 

(3) In another case, a Madison, Wis., hearing aid salesman was convicted of de
frauding elderly persons in 7 Wisconsin counties. Visiting elderly in their homes, 
this defendant usually pretended to fix their hearing aids and collected hundreds of 
dollars in payment from each. He also convinced some people he could implant a 
new "miracle" device into their present hearing aids that would restore n!'ltural 
hearing. One victim was 91 years old and another blind. On at least 1 occaslOn he 
drove an elderly woman to the bank so she could withdraw cash to pay him. In 
other cases, he took hearing aids away for repair and never returned them. 

A criminal conviction was secured and this defendant was sentenced to make res
titution in excess of $12,000 and serve 4 years in prison. Unfortunately, no restitu
tion was ever paid and several of his victims died before the case was concluded. 

(4) Last year we saw the collapse of a large life care facility for elderly in subur
ban Milwaukee, Wis. At present Wisconsin has no law or regulation insuring the 
f"mancial integrity of such operations. Over 100 elderly persons paid between $20,~00 
and $50,000 each to s:ecure a place in this new facility which guaranteed "securIty 
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for the rest of your life." The promoters became overextended by using this money 
to attempt to build other facilities and the original venture failed, throwing the fa
cility into foreclosure. Only then did the residents, many of whom used their entire 
life savings, realize that all the lifetime security promises were subordinated to the 
rights of the first mortgagee in foreclosure. 

As with everyone else who has testified I could go on all day with examples and 
horror stories relating to the remaining categories. But since my time is up, I 
simply thank you for allowing me to speak today. I am more than willing to enter
tain questions. 

Chairman HE.INZ. I do have to observe that the one white light 
up on the clock means there is a vote on, so we are going to try 
and move along so that, among other things, the chairman can 
vote. 

Mr. Getsay. 

STATEMENT OF TERRY GETSAY, SPRINGFIELD, ILL., CRIMINAL 
INTELLIGENCE ANALYST, ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF LAW 
ENFORCEMENT 

Mr. GETSAY. Thank you, Senator. 
My name is Terry Getsay. I am a criminal intelligence analyst 

with the Illinois Division of Criminal Investigation. I am a former 
police officer from Pennsylvania, and recently moved out to Illinois 
a few years ago. 

Chairman HEINZ. We doubly welcome you. 
Mr. GETSAY. Thank you. 
I would like to make you aware of the project that I run in Illi

nois. It is called the gypsy activities project. It involves a dissemi
nation of what we entitle "Criminal Intelligence Bulletins." These 
documents contain photographs, vehicle license numbers and his
tories, and about 84 pages of narrative information regarding gyp
sies' history, culture, scams, investigative recommendations, and 
organization. We mail out about 2,200 copies to law enforcement 
agencies throughout the United States, Canada, through Interpol 
to Europe. 

To date, 135 law enforcement agencies throughout the United 
States and Canada have informed me that they have used these 
documents to identify gypsies who have stolen over $2.1 million; 97 
to 98 percent of the victims are the Willises, if you will. The exam
ple presented from Pennsylvania with Mrs. Willis is described in 
detail in here, as well as well-documented througho~t the United 
States. That is what represents the $2.1 million. However, some of 
the more significant cases would include a $250,000 home invasion 
which was committed by gypsies in Florida; an $83,000 store diver
sion in Tennessee; a $200,000 fortunetelling scam in Massachusetts. 

Home repair scams, such as the Willises, for the most part-and 
it may be hard to believe, but they were very lucky. I can cite 
many cases in the $40,000, $60,000, and $100,000 bracket. To make 
restitution, indeed, she was very lucky again. 

Part of what we do, the project is a clearinghouse-type operation. 
Law enforcement agencies submit information to us. I then rework 
it, print it into these bulletins, and they are then redisseminated. 
The State of Illinois absorbs all the costs. 

Another part of the project is that I frequently teach and con
duct 1 and 2 day training seminars. Most recently, I conducted one 
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at the FBI Academy in Virgini~, and a. ha~f-day one he!e at the 
Metropolitan Police Department In the DIstrIct of ColumbIa. 

Out of the 34 lectures, I have been in about 11 States, and have 
trained over 1800 Federal, State, county, and local law enforce
ment people, a~ well as private security indiyiduals. The office that 
I work from, on the average, I would receIve "and send about 20 
forms of communication, letters, phone calls, et cetera, a day, re
questing information, assistance, or direction in som.e fashion re
garding the Willis case, if you will, that type of operatIOn. 

Thank you. 
Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much, Mr. Getsay. 
You have testified to something that seems almost extraordinary. 

It is almost like a plot out of a grade B movie, but I gather you 
mean it when you say you believe there is a gang of gypsies that is 
out there, that they are organized, and that they are indeed nation
wide in their activities. 

Mr. GETSAY. That is correct. 
Chairman HEINZ. How many people are we talking about, and 

where do they operate? 
Mr. GETSAY. Basically, the best estimates we can come up with 

are approximately 1 million gypsies in the United States and 
Canada. We are in no way} myself as an individual or the Illinois 
Division of Criminal Investigation, inferring that all gypsies are in
volved in criminal activities. The $2.1 million was stolen by about 
400 people. That $2.1 million also represents 135 agencies out of 
the 2,200 who received these that got back to me. I personally be
lieve the actual figure would be close to $3 to $5 million in the last 
3 years. The total cases would be 300 or 400. 

Chairman HEINZ. So you think there are about 400 gypsies oper
ating. Do you have any reason to believe that their operations are 
linked, that they are aware of what others are doing in that area of 
the country, as opposed to the next? 

Mr. GETSAY. Yes. To establish this documentation, I spent 3 years 
reading over police reports and also public sector documents. My 
master's thesis, which I am currently writing, is on gypsies and 
their criminal propensity, and I am frequently called upon to, in 
the course of giving my lectures, describe the organization. Now, 
when I say 300 to 400 gypsies out of here, that is the ones that we 
know of, where departments took photographs and then forwarded 
them to me. 

They are indeed well organized. They are indeed cooperative. I 
can cite many cases where items have been stolen in Florida, and 
they show up in New York, California, Chicago. These people 
travel 40 to 70 percent of the time. The average gypsy male, who 
blacktops that driveway of the Willises for $320 is estinlated to 
earn over $100,000 per year, and wears out two brand-new pickup 
trucks. 

Chairman HEINZ. Do they, as far as you can tell, pick on a partic
ular segment of the population? Do they pick on the eldery, for 
exainple? 

Mr. GETSAY. Yes, sir. The elderly are your most likely victims, as 
has been testified to, and as you could see plainly with Mrs. Willis, 
the problems ~n9o~ntere~ b:y a law enforcement agency attemptiIig 
to use Mrs. WIllIS m a cnmInal court case that might take several 
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Thank you. 
Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much, Mr. Getsay. 
You have testified to something that seems almost extraordinary. 

It is almost like a plot out of a grade B movie, but I gather you 
mean it when you say you believe there is a gang of gypsies that is 
out there, that they are organized, and that they are indeed nation
wide in their activities. 

Mr. GETSAY. That is correct. 
Chairman HEINZ. How many people are we talking about, and 

where do they operate? 
Mr. GETSAY. Basically, the best estimates we can come up with 

are approximately 1 million gypsies in the United States and 
Canada. We are in no way, myself as an individual or the Illinois 
Division of Criminal Investigation, inferring that all gypsies are in
volved in criminal activities. The $2.1 million was stolen by about 
400 people. That $2.1 million also represents 135 agencies out of 
the 2,200 who received these that got back to me. I personally be
lieve the actual figure would be close to $3 to $5 million in the last 
3 years. The total cases would be 300 or 400. 

Chairman HEINZ. So you think there are about 400 gypsies oper
ating. Do you have any reason to believe that their operations are 
linked, that they are aware of what others are doing in that area of 
the country, as opposed to the next? 

Mr. GETSAY. Yes. To establish this documentation, I spent 3 years 
reading over police reports and also public sector documents. My 
master's thesis, which I am currently writing, is on gypsies and 
their criminal propensity, and I am frequently called upon to, in 
the course of giving my lectures, describe the organization. Now, 
when I say 300 to 400 gypsies out of here, that is the ones that we 
know of, where departments took photographs and then forwarded 
them to me. 

They are indeed well organized. They are indeed cooperative. I 
can cite many cases wnere items have been stolen in Florida, and 
they show up in New York, California, Chicago. These people 
travel 40 to 70 percent of the time. The average gypsy male, who 
blacktops that driveway of the Willises for $320 is estimated to 
earn over $100,000 per year, and wears out two brand-new pickup 
trucks. 

Chairman HEINZ. Do they, as far as you can tell, pick on a partic
ular segment of the population? Do they pick on the eldery, for 
example? 

Mr. GETSAY. Yes, sir. The elderly are your most likely victims, as 
has been testified to, and as you could see plainly with Mrs. Willis, 
the problems encountered by a law enforcement agency attempting 
to use Mrs. Willis in a criminal court case that might take several 

67 

days, and her ability to review photographs and pick out an indi
vidual and say, "Yes, that i~ the person." 
. Unfortunately, they are the most likely victims. ,Unfortunately, 
they do not believe in banks, possibly because of surviving the De
pression era. ,They do' normally have relatively' large amounts'of 
cash. 

What we have to understand when we are talkirlg about the 
gypsy criminal is that the overhead expense is. miniinal. He buys 
some kerosene and puts a little bit of oil with it, sprays a driveway, 
and gets $4,000 or $~,OOO. 

Chairman IjEINZ. Let me interrupt because time, unfortunately, 
is getting very short on this vote. . . 

I wapt to ~k Ms. Villano, are there any things that you think 
the Federal Government should be doing, either the Congress or 
through the executive branch agencies? 

Ms. VILLANO. We hear the importance of the local agsncies pick
ing up. I guess it seems like we are ganging up on the FTC. One 
good thing they tried to do wal:? to enhance the networks of these 
local agencies in, order to stay in-communication. We do not have 
Telex lines, we do not have computers that talk to each other. 
Almost everything is done manually. ·We do have an association. 
that I represent, and we did have a newsletter, and the FTC did 
fund it. All of a sudden, that has disappeared. I am sure trying to 
talk them back into helping us keep up our networking so we can 
be cooperative with them, which we have been, and also get their 
news and do a more cooperative-each little agency. acting as an 
island is playing right into the hands of those swind·lers, con men 
and con women, who would take advantage of all citizens, but par
ticularly the elderly. 

Chairman HEINZ. So some kind of an information-sharing net- . 
work that you could have access to. 

Ms. VILLANO. Indeed. 
Chairman HEINZ. Anything else? 
Ms. VILLANO. I think that would help at this point, because I 

know that your pot is about as lean as many of ours. 
Chairman HEINZ. Yes, this happens. 
Mr. Nicks, you have given some very specific suggestions, regard

ing speed of enforcement and regarding the amount of FTC re
sources being devoted to these problems. You have asked some 
questions about S. 450, and I can tell you it does indeed address the 
problem you mentioned. So, unless you have anything else to sug
gest to us, I would ask Mr. Getsay the same question I asked Ms. 
Villano. 

Mr. NICKS. No, I do not, thank you. 
Chairman HEINZ. All right. 
Mr. Getsay, do you have any advice for the Congress or for the 

Federal Government generally, as to what we should do to combat 
these kinds of frauds against the elderly? 

Mr. GETSAY. I would say from a law enforcement standpoint that 
the response to this type of project-that is, the feeding in of infor
mation to me, and then people requiring that Federal authorities 
as well as local all respond to this type of project-works very well. 
There is an excellent sharing mechanism. The vehicle for express-
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ing the information needed is excellent, and the response is qu.ite 
phenomenal. 

Chairman HEINZ. I am going to have to adjourn the hearing. You 
have all come quite a ways to be here. Let me thank all of you
Mr. Nicks, Ms. Villano, Mr. Getsay-'thank you for your testimony, 
and let me thank you above all for what you do day in and day out 
in your various roles. Weare lucky to have public servants such as 
you who are so dedicated, and we thank you. 

I know that the members of the committee and, more important
ly, all the elderly, and all the other consumers in this country, owe 
you and people like you a great debt of gratitude. 

Thank you.' . 
[Whereupon, at 12:01 p.m., the committee adjourned.] 
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